# ACCULTURATION AND THE HEALTH BEHAVIOR OF VIETNAMESE, SOMALIS, ESTONIANS AND RUSSIANS LIVING IN FINLAND IN 2002

William Gyamfi Garbrah Master's Thesis University of Tampere Medical School Department of International Health Health Sciences (International Health) February 2011 University of Tampere Medical School Department of International Health GARBRAH, WILLIAM GYAMFI: ACCULTURATION AND THE HEALTH BEHAVIOR OF VIETNAMESE, SOMALIS, ESTONIANS AND RUSSIANS LIVING IN FINLAND IN 2002 Master's Thesis, 74 pages, 4 appendices Supervisors: Professor Reijo Salmela, Maili Malin, PhD Health Sciences (International Health) February 2011

**Introduction:** Finland like many other countries is no longer a homogeneous country. The proportion of immigrants residing in Finland has increased more than five folds in the last two decades. Immigrants' health therefore, will continue to be a matter of interest to investigate. There is enough evidence suggesting that acculturation influence the health and health behavior of migrant origin groups. Cultural and ethnicity are pre-existing determinants of life style choices and it is generally accepted that, health behaviors is influence by one's cultural background.

**Objectives:** The current study disentangles the association between acculturation and the health behavior and body mass index of the selected migrants.

**Study subjects and methods:** A cross-sectional study about living conditions and health of the selected migrant population in Finland was done by Statistics of Finland in 2002. A random sample of 20-65 years old Russians, Estonians, Somalis and Vietnamese in Helsinki, Vantaa and Espoo was selected to the study. Additional sample of Russians were selected from the cities of Turku and Tampere. The total sample size was 2208 of which 62% (n=1361) participated with varying response rates (60% of Russians, 63% of Estonians, 68% of Somalis and 56% of Vietnamese). Postal questionnaire was sent to Russians and Estonians and structured interviews were done for Vietnamese and Somalis. In this sub-study, cross tabulation was used to analyses the association between acculturation and the health behavior of the migrants. Pearson's chi-square test was used to measure the statistical power of the associations and significance was determined at the 0.05 level.

**Results:** The findings revealed ethnic differences in the health behavior of the migrants. Daily smoking was very high among Vietnamese men especially among less acculturated. There is some evidence that daily smoking and alcohol use increases among Somalis (both genders) and Vietnamese women who are more acculturated. Alcohol use was highest among Russians and Estonians. However the acculturation effect on the use of alcohol among Russians and Estonians did not point to any direction.

**Conclusions:** Acculturation has an effect on migrants' health behavior in many ways. Being a Vietnamese, Somali, Estonian or Russian to some extend could determine the acculturation effect on the health behavior of the migrants. The association between acculturation and health behavior is gender specific for some ethnic minorities. Somalis do have good health behavior, and Vietnamese women too, but Russians and Estonians whose cultural background and health habits resemble those of Finns had the worst health behavior.

**Key words:** Acculturation, health behavior, migrant, smoking, alcohol use, physical activity and body mass index.

# **Table of contents**

1.0 INTRODUCTION	.4
1.1 Concept Clarification	.6

#### 

2.1 Smoking and acconol consumption habits of migrants	/
2.2 Migrants' participation in physical activities	9
2.3 Obesity and migrant's eating habits	12
2.4 Gender differences in health behavior	14
2.5 Impact of social-economic variables on migrants' health behavior	16
2.6 Health behavior in the context of Vietnamese, Somalis, Estonians and Russians	18

# 

4. METHODS	25
4.1 Participants	25
4.2 Materials	26
4.3.1 Interview of Somalis and Vietnamese	27
4.3.2 Postal questionnaire to Russians and Estonians	28
4.3.3 Justification for different data collection methods	29
4.4 Ethical Considerations	
4.5 Variables	
4.6 Variables in Full sample	
4.7 Analysis	

5 RESULTS	34
5.1 The health behavior and obesity of migrants by length of stayin Finland	34
5.2 Migrants health behavior and obesity by length of stay in Finland and gender	
5.3 Impact of education on migrant's health behavior and obesity	43
5.4 The impact of main activity on migrants' health behavior and obesity	45
6 DISCUSSIONS	47
6.1 Possible explanations to the main findings of the study	47
6.2 Relation to other studies	53
6.3 Validity and reliability of the study	57
6.4 Limitations of the study	59
6.5 Implications to the migrants and public health	60
6.6 Recommendations for further studies	62
6.7 Conclusions and recommendations	63
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	65
7. REFERENCES	66
8. APPENDIX	74

### **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

The world is rapidly shrinking. Nations have become interdependent on each other making migration more and more a global phenomenon and diverse (Castles and Miller, 2003). People travel across borders for many reasons including: voluntary and force migration. As this phenomenon continues, immigrants' health has long been and would continue to be a matter of interest to explore.

There is an increasing realization of disparities in the health among and within ethnic groups in western societies (Hunt et al., 2004). There are many complex reasons behind the observed health inequalities among ethnic minorities. Conditions in host environment may be completely different from what migrants are used to in their country of origin. And the process of migration and adaptation can also lead to radical changes in the socio-economic status of migrants. Depending on both the pre- and post-migration living conditions, theses changes in education, employment and income can affect the general health and health behavior of first generation-migrants positively or negatively (Masseter and Callister, 2009).

Also, culture and ethnicity have been noted to be pre-existing determinants of life style choices (Gedrich 2003, Kreuter et al., 2004). Culture as an antecedent, can affect health directly or indirectly, and has generated concerns among health care providers, researchers and policy makers (Hunt et al., 2004 and). Ethnicity has also proven to be determinant factor for certain diseases and lifestyle choices. Differences in health status have been documented among ethnic minority groups in different countries: in UK (Chandola, 2001); in Netherlands (Ujcic-Voortman et al., 2009); and in USA (LaRosaand Brown, 2005).

Furthermore, acculturation which is consistently refer to "social change" or "changes in the original cultural patterns" of acculturating individuals (Escobar et al., 2000, Berry, 2003, Trimble, 2003), has an effect on migrants' health in many ways (Salanta and Lauderdale, 2003). However the reasons for migration and the cultural distance between country of

origin and the host country can determine how acculturation and associated health outcomes occurs (Salanta and Lauderdale, 2003). Some researchers contend that migrants are in good health when entering a new host country due to healthy migrant effect. Meaning that, the healthiest are able to live thorough migration process. On the other hand they have good health due to the routine healthy lifestyle behaviors which they are accustomed to in their country of origin. For example: doing physically demanding work, walking for transportation, and eating food high in fiber and low in fat (Perez 2002, Berrigan et al., 2006, and Barnes and Almasy, 2005). However the condition erodes as migrants become more acculturated (Caperchione et al., 2009).

Other scholars also argue that migrants particularly those who enter as humanitarian refugees are likely to suffer from poor health as a result of the deprived conditions in country of origin and/or in refugee camps. When such migrants get acculturated, they may westernize their health behavior positively by adopting to low fat food, increase physical exercise, smoke and drink less and learn western health literacy about what is healthy, how to prevent illnesses, and how to use the health care services (Rogerson and Emes et al., 2006, Richardson et al., 2002, and Choudhry, 2001).

Clearly, ethnicity, culture, the process of migration, acculturation, and adaptation has some effect on the health behavior of migrants. Finland like many other countries is no longer a homogeneous country. The trend is changing swiftly. The number of foreigners living in Finland has increased more than five folds since 1990 (Statistics Finland, 2009). There is very little information on migrant's health and health behavior in Finland. A survey conducted by Statistics Finland revealed huge disparities within and among the health behavior of Vietnamese, Somalis, Estonians and Russians living in Finland in 2002 (Pohjanpää et al., 2003). However, the study did not consider the effects of acculturation, on observed disparities in the health behaviors. The focus of the current study therefore is to disentangle the association between acculturation and the health behavior and body mass index (BMI) of the migrants using the data on the living conditions of Vietnamese, Somalis, Estonians living in Finland.

## **1.1 Concept Clarification**

*Acculturation:* is a process in which members of one cultural group adopt cultural traits or social patterns, the beliefs and behaviors of another group. Although acculturation is usually in the direction of a minority group adopting habits and language patterns of the dominant group, acculturation can be reciprocal--that is, the dominant group also adopts patterns typical of the minority group. Assimilation of one cultural group into another may be evidenced by changes in language preference, adoption of common attitudes and values, membership in common social groups and institutions, and loss of separate political or ethnic identification (Hispanic Center of Excellence, 2011).

*Measuring acculturation:* Proxy measures of unidimensional acculturation such length of residence, language proficiency are widely used as indicators of acculturation in health studies. These measures are quick and convenient, and are often comparable with measurement scales (Hunt et al., 2004). However, it must be acknowledged that proxies do not directly measure elements of acculturative change such as attitudes or behaviors, which can limit the usefulness of the results. For convenient reasons length of stay in Finland was used as measures of acculturation which is thoroughly explained in 4.5.

*Health behavior:* "an action taken by a person to maintain, attain, or regain good health and to prevent illness. Health behavior reflects a person's health beliefs. (Mosby's Medical Dictionary, 2009). The health manifestations as a result of health behavior do not grow out of a vacuum, but they are deeply connected to the social and cultural environment, just as inequalities in health and their confounding factors are more general. Smoking, alcohol use, and physical activity are use as measures of health behavior because there is a school of knowledge that these three habits are major risk or protective factors to important public health problems in Finland (Palosuo et al., 2009). There was no data on dietary habits which is another important factor for public health problems; therefore obesity was included in the analysis. Health behavior variables are carefully described in 4.5

# 2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW: MIGRANTS' HEALTH BEHAVIOR AND OBESITY

The notion that disparities in health can be determined by how migrants are accustomed to the host culture is a result of health behavior or lifestyle choices which are influenced by the customs, attitudes, beliefs and norms. Cultural values and beliefs can partly cause people to make choices concerning their health habits which partially reflect the observed disparities in health (Hunt et al., 2004).

The work of Masseter and Callister (2009) is evidence that migrants' general health and health behavior deteriorates as they stay longer in western countries. Other theorists also argue that some ethnic minorities westernize their health behavior positively (Rogerson and Emes et al., 2006, Richardson et al., 2002, Choudhry, 2001). The current review throws more light on the smoking and drinking habits of immigrants and their participation in physical activities in western societies. It also reveals the knowledge gaps.

### 2.1 Smoking and alcohol consumption habits of migrants

One of the biggest public health concerns of our time is smoking, which has led to the implementation and advocacy for health promotion policies and campaigns. Sorting out the risk groups has become apparent for effective intervention, although it is a risk factor which is adjustable (Van Oort et al., 2006).

There has been several ways of identifying these risk groups in different studies. For example, in western societies the prevalence of smoking has been found to be higher among men (Giskes et al., 2005); those with few years of education (Huisman et al. 2005 and Tucker et al. 2003); the unemployed (Reine et al., 2004); and those who are distress (Tucker et al., 2003).

The has been some studies conducted among immigrants and ethnic minority groups with regards to smoking, although the frequency of smoking has been found to be higher in several migrant populations (Lindstrom and Sundquist, 2002). A large amount of studies

concerning smoking and drinking habits of migrants were carried out in the UK and USA. The results of the determinants of smoking of such studies were rather mixed with regards to the association between smoking and socio-economic status. The determinants of smoking may differ among minority groups (Van Oort FVA et al., 2006).

In their investigations on the living conditions of Russians, Estonians, Somalis and Vietnamese living in Finland 2002, Pohjanpää et al. (2003) noticed in that Somalis barely smoke in comparison to their counterparts. Some acculturation theories on the hand, predict that as migrants continuously have an encounter with the host population, they will eventually adopt the behaviors of the host population they come into contact with. There is the need therefore to find out whether length of stay in western societies leads to a change in health behavior. In addition, the association between acculturation and smoking may vary by educational background of migrants.

Some studies have concluded that the more acculturated migrants are more likely to use alcohol than their less acculturated counterparts (Wahl and Eitle, 2010) .Alcohol abuse and dependence have also been recorded to have a positive association with acculturation. Different measures of acculturation have been employed by various investigators. For those researchers who have measured acculturation on the basis of language proficiency, noted that migrant with grater linguistic skills are at a higher risk of using alcohol and other illegal substances than those with poor linguistics skills (Wahl and Eitle, 2010).

Similarly, the few studies that have focused on using "generational status" as a measure of acculturation have concluded with comparable results to the research on linguistic assimilation. The prevalence of alcohol use constantly increases across Latino migrant generations. Specifically, the use of alcohol among Latino second-generation migrants is higher than among their first-generation counterparts (Hussey et al., 2007). Some acculturation theories envisage the process of adaptation as linear; as migrants gradually get use to the values, beliefs, and norms of their new society, they in turn become integrated socially and economically and also adapt to the mobility of the host country.

Which means migrants from non-western societies where alcohol use is not socially accepted can eventually begin to use alcohol when moved to western societies. The longer the contact of a group with the host culture, the more likely they adopt to the health behavior of the host culture (Wahl and Eitle, 2010).

Some scholars widely accept that some traditions and religions discourage and sanctions drinking among women but not men, while others do not tolerate the use of Alcohol at all. Many studies have consistently reported significant gender differences in alcohol use among ethnic minorities in the West (Wahl and Eitle, 2010, Pohjanpää et al., 2003). The work of Pohjanpää et al. (2003) indicates that Somali and Vietnamese women are more likely to abstain while Russian, Estonian, and Vietnamese men drink more frequently and drink more heavily. The gender differences that exist in the use of alcohol have been evident in some studies across multiple migrant subgroups (Wahl and Eitle 2010, Pohjanpää et al., 2003, Nielsen and Ford, 2001).

Owing to these differences that have been observed, some studies have reservations about the effects of acculturation by gender. Other studies have found that regardless of gender, the use alcohol among adults' increases with acculturation, while Zemore (2005) concludes that this association holds for women but not men. According the work of (Wahl and Eitle, 2010), there is no significant difference in the drinking patterns of the most acculturated and lest acculturated migrants Hispanic men. Contrarily, the most acculturated Hispanic woman were found to have a similar drinking habit as non-Hispanic women while the least acculturated Hispanic women were more likely to abstain. Wahl and Eitle (2010) therefore infer that the host culture which is more liberal and less prohibitive about women drinking has a positive association with the increase use of alcohol among the most acculturated Hispanic women. The trends with regards to acculturation's effects on drinking imply that the drinking habits of ethnic minorities would eventually converge with the patterns of alcohol use of the host culture.

## 2.2 Migrants' participation in physical activities

Immigrants in Netherlands have been recorded to participate less frequently in sporting activities than natives (Cornelisse-Vermaatand van den Brink, 2007). The reasons behind this phenomenon are numerous and are subjective to individuals and different groups of migrants. Many of these factors can be clustered into two main themes: cultural, and health beliefs and social and environmental changes (Caperchione et al., 2009).

Different cultures and migrant groups possess some cultural and religious values which can impinge upon their interest to engage in physical activities (Rogerson and Emes, 2006). It has been recorded that migrants from Arabic countries who are Muslims are less likely to participate in physical activities. The five prayers in a day can be a source of obstacle to organizing regular physical activities, as all activities must stop during the times for prayers. To engage in sporting activities, an individual requires energy from nourished food and fluids. The long fasting observed by Muslims during the month of Ramadan can also become a hindrance in terms of maintaining correct energy balance for physical activities (Guerin et al., 2003, Rogerson and Emes, 2006).

Physical activity is not usually encouraged among migrant women from many non-Western societies as women are expected to be at home nurturing family members (Lawton et al., 2006). The interpretation of the holy scripture by some religions also prohibits women to engage in physical activity, and for some who allow, only do so on the condition that: the women dresses "appropriately"; that they do not have physical contact with men, and that their activities do not interfere with the house hood chores (Lawton et al., 2006, Guerin et al., 2007; and Guerin et al., 2003). Religious fatalism has also been recorded to be barrier to physical activity for some migrant groups. The doctrine of fatalism creates the perception that health, illness and diseases are pre-ordained by God and that one cannot help to reduce the risk of disease or death through physical activities. Migrants with such notion therefore entrust their health into the hands of their object of

worship and therefore do not find the need to partake in physical activities (Lawton et al., 2006, Walseth and Fasting, 2003).

There is an evidence to suggest that with a strong and reliable social network, many migrants could participate in regular physical activities (Wolin et al., 2006). In their report, Belza et al. (2004) also recorded social isolation as a common theme reported by immigrants from multiple backgrounds as a barrier to physical activity. This is in harmony with Amesty (2003) who noticed social isolation, separation from relatives and friends, and being a newcomer in a host country as barriers to regular physical activities among Hispanic migrants living in the USA.

Most non-western immigrants originate from countries with warm weather to host countries with varied weather and climate conditions, which can be a barrier to sporting activities (Rogerson and Emes, 2006). For example Belza et al. (2004) found that migrants from Vietnam living in the Seattle area in USA participated less in physical activities due to the unfriendly climate conditions which they perceive as making it difficult to breathe. Similarly, Kalavar et al. (2004) observed in their studies that, Asian Indians living in New Jersey viewed snow as a barrier to physical activity because of a fear of falling and subsequent injury. The weather conditions in a Scandinavian country like Finland can be very hostile, and therefore as a barrier to health promoting physical activities, especially for migrants from countries with warm climate. Change of environment as a result of migration poses a challenge of language barrier. Some immigrants to the western societies come from developing countries where illiteracy rate is considerably high. Some migrants therefore migrate without being able to read and write their own language, let alone to learn the host country's dialect. The problem to navigate facilities for physical activities is exacerbated with the language barrier (Belza et al., 2004). The work of Guerin et al. (2003 and 2007) conducted in New Zealand, revealed that understanding instructions was a problem for Somali women who participated in physical activity programs, in spite of the availability of interpreters.

# 2.3 Obesity and migrant's eating habits

Overweight has long been established to be a risk factor for several diseases and it has been recognized that after staying for some years, migrants tend to gain weight in the United States. On average, migrants initially have 2% and 5% BMI lower than the U.S.-born women and men respectively. But after staying for about 10years the female migrants have BMIs comparable to the US born. The BMIs of the male migrants also converge with the US-born after 15 years of migration to the United States of American (Antecol and Bedard, 2006). There is consistency in such results from other studies. In their study to find out the prevalence of obesity among US migrant groups by duration of stay, Goel et al. (2004) observed that 8% of migrants who had resided in the United States less than 1 year were obese, compared to 19% of the migrants who had lived in the United States for 15 years or longer.

The inevitable rise in the prevalence of obesity and diabetes, which are related to dietary habits, has created a great concern among health authorities in the west (Must et al., 1999; Morgan et al., 2000). There are substantial racial differences in the prevalence of overweight among immigrants to the USA and locals (Haas et al 2003 and Comelisse-Vermaat and van den Brinkt, 2007). Higher than average levels of obesity have been recorded in Somali communities in New Zealand and Australia (Burns, 2004, Guerin et al., 2007) and in London, UK (Straus et al., 2007).

Insufficient physical activity is well documented to have direct and strong association to higher prevalence of obesity and overweight. In their observation, Aranceta et al. (2001) noted that the ethnical differences in the prevalence rate of obesity were due to the socio-demographic factors in food and other lifestyles patterns. They supported their argument with other regional dietary surveys carried out in Spain which noted that women with lower economic status consume more fat and eat less fruits and vegetables. They therefore suggested that health interventions to combat the prevalence of obesity and overweight to take into account the socio-demographic factors (Aranceta et al., 2001).

One of the major concerns with the fight against obesity in western societies has been lifestyle and eating habits. People having higher intake of fat or higher fat: sugar ratio were noted to be more likely to be obese (Aranceta et al., 2001) and some minority groups for example Somalis have been noted to eat more meat (containing saturated fat) and add more sugar to their tee (McEwen et al., 2009). The next section of this review discusses the dynamics between migrants' dietary habit and obesity.

There is a gap in our understanding about dietary believes and eating habits of minority population. As some investigations have condemned the traditional eating habits of certain minority groups, for example Somali community in UK, because they were causing overweight, deficiencies in calcium and vitamin D (Maxwell et al., 2006). Another study, encouraged the traditional eating habits of Somali refugees in Canada as they have positive association with cancer prevention (Paisley et al., 2002). This part of the study reports the findings from other studies that sought to fill in the gaps in our understanding of the dietary beliefs and eating habits of migrants.

Latino migrants in the USA are reported to consume unhealthy diet compared to other ethnic groups. According to Ayala et al. (2008), most researchers have concluded that food intake is arguably one of the major determinants of obesity and other related chronic diseases among Latino population in the USA. They attributed the consumption of less healthy diet among Latino groups to lower socio-economic status, less access to healthful foods, and food insecurity. Also Ayala et al. (2008) linked the unhealthy eating habits of Latinos to migration and acculturation process. The impact of migration become more evident when years lived in the USA, country of origin and age on arrival to the USA are used as measures of acculturation (Ayala et al. 2008).

In one focus group study, Sealy (2010) of minority parents regarding the decision they make in selection of food for themselves and their families indicated cultural identification to be one of the major themes that influence food selection. In addressing obesity and other health problems, parental attitudes about eating habits, food preparation, and dietary guidelines are crucial (Sealy, 2010).

People from different cultural backgrounds usually have different food pattern and each ethnic group has a typical cuisine and eating habit. On migration this patterns in food and eating habit can be altered. Finnish twin migrants in Sweden recorded a reduction in the consumption typical Finnish foods and an increased consumption of fresh fruit compared with co-twins living in Finland. The twin in Sweden consumed more rice and pasta but less potato and sweet pastries. Living in a different country for increased years, is clearly associated with major changes in health behavior including dietary beliefs (Hammar et al., 2009).

# 2.4 Gender differences in health behavior

Migrant women in industrialized countries have been noticed to develop negative health behavior such as smoking and alcohol use as they become more and more accustomed to receiving countries than their fellow men. There are many reasons behind this phenomenon. "Westernization" which is characterized by industrialization, modernization, and urbanization are somehow associated with unhealthy health behavior (Bethel and Schenker, 2005).

In order to alter the risk behavior of migrants, it is essential to monitor the effect of acculturation, especially with women (Bethel and Schenker, 2005). Increased alcohol use and smoking were associated with acculturation among Hispanic immigrant women (Bethel and Schenker, 2005). Similarly, a chunk of less accustomed migrants women in the USA, were observed to desist from the use of alcohol than their counterparts who were more highly acculturated (National Center for Health Statistics, 2005).

Being more acculturated is not the only factors associated with smoking among migrants. In one systematic review (Zhang and Wang 2008), acculturation was found to be a risk factor for smoking among women, whereas less acculturation was associated with high smoking among men. Few years of education, widowed, divorced, and separations were contributing factors to smoking among the migrants (Zhang and Wang 2008).

The association between smoking and acculturation has been argued to be gender specific (Zhang and Wang, 2008, Bethel and Schenker, 2005, Kim et al., 2007). The gender differences in the association between smoking and acculturation, has been attributed to the behavior, perception, attitudes and values towards smoking which differ between sexes in migrants countries of origins (Zhang and Wang, 2008). In some countries smoking is socially acceptable and even necessary for men, while it is socially unacceptable for women to smoke (Fu et al., 2003). On the other hand, smoking in western societies is becoming more and more unacceptable, though it is liberal for both sexes. As a result, some migrant men may adapt to the societal norms in the west with regards to smoking and stop smoking. The opposite may be the case for some women from countries were female smoking is not liberal. As they get to western societies were smoking is not gender restricted, women increasingly start smoking (Zhang and Wang, 2008).

The effects of acculturation and smoking habits and the direction of this relationship vary among studies. A positive association was found between acculturation and smoking among women in nine out of the eleven studies and a negative association was found in one of those studies in on literature review (Ning et al., 2008). Although different acculturation methods were employed most of the studies found a negative association between acculturation and men though, they did not yield a strong statistical power (Ning et al., 2008).

In general, among all the Asian ethnic subgroups (Chinese, Japanese, Korean, Vietnamese, Filipino and South Asian Americans) studied, second generation male or above had lower rates of smoking just as those who had stayed for longer period in The United States. Contrary to this observation, more acculturated women from the same ethnic minority groups speaking English at home or being second generation or above or having stayed in the USA for 15 years or more, smoked more than those who were not acculturated. They concluded that men who were acculturated by speaking only English language at home were less engaged in smoking and were more likely to quit. The outcome from the women group revealed an opposite scenario where women who were more accustomed were found to have higher prevalence of smoking (Ning et al., 2008).

#### 2.5 Impact of social-economic variables on migrants' health behavior

He it is discussed whether the socio-economic status of migrants in general improves or deteriorates after migration and how these variables affect migrants' lifestyle choices. Educational attainment, employment and income are used as measures of socio-economic status. In the UK lower educational background, the nature of work, and income levels have continuously been an issue of concern regarding poor health behavior among ethnic minorities (Department of Health, 2002).

In Finland unemployment rates was higher among Somalis and Russians, and of those who were working, their average monthly income was lower than in the Finnish population (Pohjanpää et al., 2003). Eating healthy food and participating in physical activities can be expensive for these migrants who are unemployed and those receiving small salaries. Socio-economic variables have been argued to have more impact on the health behavior of immigrants than cultural acculturation and individual-level factors. It may be therefore more expedient to consider socio-economic factors than acculturation when investigating into the health behavior of migrants. Especially for older migrants who have developed and inculcated certain health habits into their daily lives, acculturation may not have much influence on their health behavior as socio-economic factors might (Parikh et al., 2009).

Health and general wellbeing of an individual is influenced by education. It provides the individual with an understanding of the etiology of diseases and helps provide a sense of control and mastery over life circumstances. It boosts the chances of securing a good job and potentially increasing the income level. Having good education hypothetically makes people live a healthy life style because literacy enhances people's ability to access and comprehend health information. There is a strong association between educational background and disparities in health behavior. Individuals with higher educational backgrounds make healthy lifestyle choices and have higher life expectancy than those with lower or no educational attainment (Department of Health, 2002).

Asian migrants groups in the USA smoke more with lower educational background. On the other hand, people who possess a higher education were more likely to quit smoking among both sexes from the same minority groups (Ning et al., 2008). In developed countries, obesity is more common among people who are less educated while the situation in completely the opposite in low resource countries. In developing countries obesity is rather high among more affluent people imitating the western life style (Aranceta et al., 2001). Clarifying how migrants in Finland westernize their health has become apparent for this study.

Changes in employment status can affect health positively or negatively. If migration results to a better employment, it enriches the socio economic status which will eventually improve the lifestyle and general health (Masseter and Callister, 2009). Minorities from low resource countries especially Sub-Saharan Africa, adapting to the western "comfortable life" can result in unhealthy lifestyle. Obesity is still not seen as a disease in developing countries such as those in sub-Saharan Africa. Indeed, obesity and overweight is still considered among some African population as an evidence of success, wealth, good health and happiness (Wallace, 2006).

### 2.6 Health behavior in the context of Vietnamese, Somalis, Estonians and Russians

Majority of Vietnamese and Somalis immigrated to Finland as refugees or asylum seekers (Kosonen, 2008). Refugees are persons living outside their country with a well-founded fear of persecution in that country because of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion (United Nations High Commissioner of Refugees, 2010). The Vietnamese and Somalis who migrated to Finland comprised of people of immensely different educational and cultural backgrounds. The first set, of Vietnamese moved to Finland shortly after the Vietnam War. Among them were mostly well-educated people who had lived in urban areas. On the other hand, there were also some Vietnamese and Somali immigrants, who arrived during the 1980s and early 1990s respectively. Some of these immigrants had been on the lower socio-economic rank living at a subsistence level. Most of these immigrants were uneducated and could not read nor write their native language as well as Finnish language (Kosonen, 2008). Lower education level among Somalis and Vietnamese has been documented in Finland. 24% of Somalis and 19% of Vietnamese had no education at all (Pohjanpää et al 2003, 85-86).

Above and beyond, many of such migrants sometimes had lived in an unstable conditions including: captivity, severe physical and psychological trauma, starvation, political unrest, and long stays in refugee camps. As a result of these experiences, these populations are prone to psychosocial problem such as depression and posttraumatic stress disorder, which can be reason for alcohol abuse among such population (Amodeo et al., 1997). It should be noted that the background of these involuntary migrants with possibly traumatic loss of family, friends and country can have its own specific impact on acculturation and its outcomes.

#### Vietnamese

Just some few studies have indicated that populations with such a background are at high risk for heavy alcohol consumption. For example, a study of Vietnamese living in California reveal that although the proportion of drinkers was similar among Vietnamese males and American males in the general population, binge drinking was twice as common among Vietnamese males as among non-Southeast Asian males (Amodeo et al., 1997).

Longer settlement time in Australia has been found to have a positive association with less smoking among Vietnamese living in Australia. The smoking rate of Vietnamese migrants being more acculturated is as low as that of the main stream population. However they did not find any significant change in the low rate of alcohol consumption. In addition, the Vietnamese who had lived longer in Australia participated more in physical activity than those who had lived for a shorter period (Brock et al., 2001). Increased daily smoking among Vietnamese was associated with not having a routine medical check, having less than a college, having poor English language skills, using Vietnamese at home and with friends (Rahman et al., 2005).

Less than 1% of Vietnamese women living in the USA smoked. Another study conducted in Vietnam also reported that 4.3% of Vietnamese women smoke compared to 72.8% of males (Jenkins et al., 1997). The low smoking prevalence among Vietnamese women could be as a result of the cultural attitudes that discourage Vietnamese women from smoking. However, they acknowledge that misclassification could be the reason behind the extreme low prevalence of smoking among Vietnamese women, because of the inaccurate self-report health behavior noticed by Wewers et al. (1995) (Mohammad et al).

The prevalence rate of smoking among Vietnamese men was substantially higher than overall smoking rates reported by men in California. Although smoking among Vietnamese male migrants is considered high by U.S. standards, the rate was less than half of that among Vietnamese men living in Vietnam. Except length of stay in the United States, all the other proxy indicators of acculturation were inversely associated with increase daily smoking among Vietnamese in the USA. Respondents who were not fluent in English or who predominantly communicate with family and friends in Vietnamese language were several times more likely to smoke than their English-speaking counterparts. Acculturation (as measured by the use of English language and proficiency) was a protective factor against smoking (Mohammad et al., 2005).

### Somalis

Just as other refugee and immigrant groups, Somalis have been found to face unique health problems and barriers such as lack of healthcare information and knowledge about accessing services, language; low literacy rates; lack of awareness of disease prevention (Kristin et al., 2008). Somalis are predominantly, culturally and/or religiously Muslim. It is socially and culturally unaccepted for women to smoke in Somalia. Therefore the inappropriateness for a woman to smoke in Somali culture caused the need to hide their smoking habit (Kristin et al., 2008). As one female adult stated, "if your neighbors are not Somali ... you will stand outside smoking, but if you live with Somalis ... you won't dare stand outside due to shame. And several youth mentioned: "no one wants a woman with a bad habit and that people say bad things about girls who smoke (Kristin et al., 2008). Although key informants were not specifically asked to comment on perception of smokers, several of them reported that female smokers are perceived as not cultured (Kristin et al., 2008).

Although there were variations across other demographic categories, particularly gender, both the adults and youth participants gave similar reasons for tobacco-use initiation. Some of the common reasons given were: the influence of friends or peer pressure, "fashionable" or "cool", stress or problems, family influences, fun or socialization, and loneliness. Peer pressure was repeated across almost all demographic categories, and explained by nearly all groups with different Somali proverb: *the second camel follows the steps of the first camel, you are what your friend is*, and *if you want to know somebody, look at his friends*". Women appeared to be most influenced by social factors such as: "*fashionable" or "cool", fun or socialization*, and *loneliness* more than men. Key informants gave similar reasons, although stress and addiction were more frequently mentioned. They also stated that individuals smoked primarily to appear "civilized" (Kristin et al., 2008).

The three most popular tobacco-use prevention strategies or interventions suggested by all demographic categories includes: medical advice and health education from religious leaders, parents, and family (Kristin et al., 2008). Providing health information about the effects of smoking was found to be an issue raised by all focus groups. Many current smokers also revealed their ignorance about the harmful effect of smoking. Doctors were repeatedly mentioned to be well respected in Somali communities and could help reduce smoking among Somalis by providing health information. Not all but religion was mentioned as an important tool in smoking prevention, and many felt that a strong faith prevents tobacco use. Although the Qur'an does not forbid tobacco use, smoking violates several Islamic principles. Smoking is considered as damaging health and promoting frivolous spending. Islamic leaders were therefore noted as one of the most influential persons to deter smoking among Somalis (Kristin et al., 2008).

Rice pasta and meat were noted to be the main components of diet for Somali living in London. They consumed less vegetables and fruits (McEwen et al., 2009). Beside low consumption of fruit and vegetables, there were also uncertainties with regards to what a healthy diet entails and a stated desire to have more information concerning these issues. The selection of food is based on cultural factors such as traditional diet; social associations of food: for example poverty is associated with eating fruit and vegetables, whereas consuming meat is an evidence of wealth in some cultures (McEwen et al., 2009).

#### Estonian and Russian

Although Estonian and Russian are member of the former Soviet Union, they differ from one another in several ways, such as historic and socio-economic background, language and culture which all influences health behavior (Lang, 2009). By comparing Estonia and Russia as different countries, it has been documented that the incidence of lung cancer is higher among Russians than Estonians (Rahu and McKee, 2008). The high incidence of lung cancer among Russian men is explained by higher prevalence of smoking (Rahu and McKee, 2008). Lang (2009) explained that the decline in pancreatic cancer cases among Estonian men which was not observed in Russian men is due to increased smoking and alcohol consumption among Russians which are risk factors for pancreatic cancer. A more extensive use of strong spirits and more prevalent daily smoking was observes among Russian men than among Estonian men for 1990–2000 (Kunst et al., 2003).

Russia has undergone health crisis characterized by premature death, especially among40– 59-year-old males (Abbott, 2002). The increase mortality in cardiovascular diseases and alcohol related accidents and poisonings could no longer be hidden by the alarming cases related to alcohol (Cockerham, 2007).

Due to the collapse of the communist regime, the social structure nurturing and reinforcing healthy lifestyle of the individual has not been well established in Russia. Consequently, negative health behavior has become a norm for many people. This lifestyle has been observed by several studies as an entrenched pattern of excessive consumption of strong spirits and binge drinking, heavy smoking, fatty diet, and the lack of health-promoting physical activity (Cockerham, 2005, Men et al., 2005, Palosuo, 2003, Perlman et al., 2003). As explained by Palosuo (2003) "heavy drinking was habitual in Russia long before the recent upheavals and is not necessarily particularly stress-related; on the contrary, drinking has been closely connected with Russian social life, rituals and celebrations".

The consumption of hard liquor and excessive smoking among males is well-known in Russia (McKeeet et al., 2001). At the same time, the Russian diet has undergone a dramatic change since the 1960s and become one of the fattiest in the world (Cockerham, 2007). The little information available on health-promoting physical activity indicates less participation for both Russian male and female. Overall, men are found to engage in negative life style then women (Cockerham, 2007)

Although lower cholesterol levels have been found in populations in the former communist countries in the some studies, heart disease and stroke mortality was significantly higher for both men and women in the former communist states than the other European countries (Cockerham, 2007). High levels of alcohol consumption, smoking and hypertension were again higher among men than among women. Alcohol consumption in the post-communist countries was twice higher than the other European nations in the study (Cockerham, 2007). Similarly, low cholesterol levels with increased risk of cardiac death among middle-age men in Moscow and St. Petersburg has been observed.

High alcohol consumption has been associated with the cardiac fatalities observed. The results indicated that the impact of heavy drinking is more significant for premature cardiovascular mortality for men than cholesterol levels (Cockerham, 2007). Arguably, alcohol consumption has been identified as the single most important lifestyle variable in the Russian health crisis (McKee et al., 2001). In Russia it is socially appropriate for men to drink. Thus drinking alcohol is more masculine – but not feminine and a large gender variations exist in alcohol consumption (Cockerham, 2007).

# **3. OBJECTIVES OF THE STUDY**

The primary aim of the study is to inquire the health behavior of the immigrants and to find out how acculturation affects their health behavior. A comparison of the health behavior among and within Russians, Estonians, Somalis and Vietnamese living in Finland in 2002 is made from a survey conducted by Statistics Finland on the living conditions of immigrants (Pohjanpääet al., 2003). This study also investigates the association of acculturation with the body mass index (BMI) of the selected migrants. To achieve the above mentioned aims, the following research questions are explored:

- Is there an association between settlement time in Finland and the health behavior of the selected migrants?
- Is increasing duration of living in Finland associated with the prevalence of obesity among the selected migrants?
- Are there gender differences in the health behavior and the prevalence of obesity within and among migrant groups by length of stay?
- Are there differences in the health behavior and the prevalence of obesity according to migrants' educational background?
- Are there differences in migrants' health behavior and the prevalence of obesity according to their main activity?

# **4 METHODS**

## 4.1 Participants

The current study is based on a study carried out among Russians, Estonians, Somalis and Vietnamese living in Finland in 2002 by statistics Finland. Apart from a random sample of 399 Russians who resided in Tampere and Turku, all the remaining participants lived in Helsinki, Espoo and Vantaa. The focus was on these groups because Russians and Estonians form the chunk of the migrants' population in Finland. Vietnamese and Somalis on the other hand, represent the old and new refuges in Finland. Somalis are the largest African origin Muslim group in Finland.

Russians are considered to be those born in Russia or former Soviet Union countries and who speaks Russian or Finnish as their mother tongue; Estonians are people who have been born in Estonia and speak Estonian, Russian or Finnish language as first language. Somalis are those born in Somalia who speaks Somali as their mother tongue. Vietnamese are individuals born in Vietnam who speaks Vietnamese as mother language. Eligible participants were identified from population register. But in the case of Russians additional participants were identified and recruited from Turku and Tampere. All the immigrants born in the countries concern were first selected.

Table 1 Sample size of the study population and their place of residence (Pohjanpää et al2003, 40)

	Vietnamese	Somalis	Estonians	Russians	Total
Helsinki/Espoo/Vantaa	345	475	494	495	1809
Tampere	-	-	-	199	199
Turku	-	-	-	200	200
Total	345	475	494	894	2208

# 4.2 Material

Of the random sample of 2 208 immigrants aged 20-65 years, a total of 1 361 individuals participated in the study with a varying response rate of 60% among Russians, 63% among Estonians, 68% among Somalis and 56% among Vietnamese.

Table 2 Response rate (%) of participants by migrant groups and place of residence(Pohjanpää et al. 2003, 43)

	Vietnamese	Somalis	Estonians	Russians	
Helsinki/Espoo/Vantaa	56	68	63	57	
Tampere	-	-	-	65	
Turku	-	-	-	61	
Total	56	68	63	60	

Table 3Number (n) of participants by migrant groups and place of residence (Pohjanpää et al 2003, 43)

	Vietnamese	Somalis	Estonians	Russians	
Helsinki/Espoo/Vantaa	193	324	312	280	
Tampere	-	-	-	130	
Turku	-	-	-	122	
Total	193	324	312	532	

STUDY SAMPLE



# **STUDY POPULATION**



The study was conducted from April to August 2002. Somali and Vietnamese were interviewed and postal questionnaires were sent to Russians and Estonians. There were about 200 different questions about family and income in Finland, Finnish Language skills and Education, work, social network, health and health habits, use of health and welfare services, experience of violence and housing condition. An anonymous electronic data on the living conditions of Russians, Estonians, Somalis and Vietnamese living in Finland in 2002 was received from Statistics Finland after permission. The researcher has the permission to use the data solely for the purpose of this study. The data was destroyed after the study. Data entry and clearance was done by Statistics Finland. The researcher only received data in SPSS format with manual in Finnish.

#### 4.3.1 Interview of Somalis and Vietnamese

Structured interviews of the Somali and Vietnamese migrant groups were carried out. The data was collected through a face-to-face interview, either in a participant's native language or in Finnish. The computer assisted interviews were conducted either in migrants home or meeting centers for migrants. Before the interview participants were sent letters to explain the study. On an average, an interview lasted for 45 minutes to complete (Pohjanpää et al 2003, 45).

The average interview time for Somali was 48 minutes and 41 minutes for Vietnamese. The personnel who conducted the interview were professionals from Statistics Finland with the help of two on-call interpreters when needed. Participants had the possibility to decide who to interpret when needed. However, minor children were not allowed to interpret. All together 40 percent (%) of the interviews were interpreted. Table 1 indicates the interview interpreter for the migrants (Pohjanpää et al 2003, 45).

	Somalis	Vietnamese
Interpreted	36	47
Who translated		
Professional interpreter	44	71
Spouse	25	7
Grown up child	19	9
Friends	12	3
Other	1	10
Total	100	100

# Table 4 Interviews interpreter for migrants, % (Pohjanpää et al. 2003, 45)

# 4.3.2 Postal questionnaire to Russians and Estonians

All potential participants received information about the study via a postal mail, before the postal questionnaires were sent. The questionnaires were mailed back in prepaid addressed envelopes to the study team.

Both open ended and multiple choice questions were included in the postal survey. There were 30 pages with a little bit less than 200 questions. Except minor technical variations, the questions were the same as those in the interview. After the first mailing 700 participants being 50% responded. A reminder was sent twice which yielded 144 more responses. Data was collected between April and August 2002. Participants had the possibility to answer the questions in Finnish, Russian or Estonian language. The table below indicates the language in which migrants returned forms (Pohjanpää et al 2003, 46).

	Russians	Estonians	Total (N)	
Language of questionnaire				
Finnish	46	72	469	
Estonian	0	23	73	
Russian	54	5	302	
Total (N)	532	312	844	

Table 5 Language in which migrants returned forms, % (Pohjanpää et al 2003, 46)

# 4.3.3 Justification for different data collection methods

Different data collection methods were employed due to economic reasons and experiences from previous international studies. Previous experiences indicate that Somalis and Vietnamese prefer interview while Russians and Estonians are more used to questionnaire. Prior to the study, an opinion poll of the migrants groups to find out which data collection method they would prefer indicated that Somali and Vietnamese are more comfortable with interview than questionnaire. Russians and Estonians on the other hand, opted for the questionnaire. The different methods used for data collection were therefore suitable to the various cultures (Pohjanpää et al., 2003, 44-46).

#### 4.4 Ethical Considrations

Ethical guidelines defined in the Declaration of Helsinki (World Medical Association, 1964 revised in 2008) were followed during the study. Also permission and approval has been asked from Statistics Finland to use the data on the living conditions of Russians, Estonians, Somalis and Vietnamese living in Finland (Pohjanpää et al., 2003). For confidentiality and privacy, no record of the names or personal social security numbers of participants were made, nor in any way associated with the responses of the respondents. Identification codes were used to distinguish between the nationalities.

All potential participants received information about the study via postal mail, and in faceto-face encounter before making a decision to participate. Prior to the interviews, those interested to participate were informed about the voluntary nature of the study, confidentiality, the right to discontinue the study at any point one wants and the right to ask for information.

## **4.5 VARIABLES**

#### Health behavior Variable

Smoking and drinking habits as well as participation in sufficient health promoting physical activities are used as measures of migrants' health behavior.

*Smoking:* The definition of daily smoking is the same as the World Health Organization's recommendation: it is defined as regular smoking during which the person has smoked at least 100 cigarettes, has smoked for at least one year and smoked during the day of the interview or the day before (Pohjanpää et al., 2003, 112-113).

*Alcohol:* Alcohol use is determined by the question on the use of alcohol in the last 12 months. Answers are categories into either used or haven't use (Pohjanpää et al., 2003, 114). It must be pointed out that there are several ways of measuring alcohol use. However for convenience reasons, alcohol use in the last 12 months was used to measure the drinking habit of the migrants.

*Physical Activity:* Sufficient health promoting physical activity is defined as any self-reported activity at least four times a week and at least half an hour each time, causing slight breathlessness and sweating (Pohjanpää et al., 2003, 116-117). Insufficient health promoting physical activity is therefore defined as any self-reported activity less than four times a week.

*Obesity:* The prevalence of obesity is determined by the body mass index of the respondents. The body mass index (kg/m2) is measured by measuring the height and weight of the respondents. It is calculated by dividing weight (kg,) by the square of height (in meters). Body-mass index is calculated with the original length and weight variables. The answer is rounded to the nearest whole number. Persons whose body mass index is 29 or more are classified as obese (Pohjanpää et al., 2003, 109).

*Ethnicity:* This is measured as country of origin. We distinguished four migrant groups: Russians, Estonians, Somalis and Vietnamese.

*Gender:* Gender is measured as self-reported male or female.

*Length of stay in Finland:* Length of stay of the migrants is measured by the year in which migrants had moved to Finland. It is then divided into three categories: Shorter stay (arrived in 1997 or after or had lived for 2-6years); Longer stay (arrived between 1993 – 1996 or had lived 7-10 years); and longest stay (arrived in 1991 or before or have lived for 11years or more).

*Educational background:* Respondents' educational background is determined by the number of years studied. It is categorized into: 1= no education or6years of education, 2= 7-12years or education and 3= more than 12 years of education

*Main activity:* Main activity of respondent is classified into four categories: working (wage earners and entrepreneurs), student, unemployed, economically inactive (*maternity* - paternity or parental leave or to manage their own households and retired)

# 4.6 Variables in Full sample

Descriptive statistics for the variables in the full sample and for each of the migrant group samples are reported by gender in Table 6

	Viet	namese	Som	alis (n)	Eston	ians (n)	Russ	ians (n)
		( <b>n</b> )						
	Mal e (%)	Female (%)	Male (%)	Female (%)	Male (%)	Female (%)	Male (%)	Female (%)
Smoking status								
Smokes Daily	48	3	21	3	38	20	35	16
Smoke seldom	4	2	7	1	10	14	12	10
Don't smoke	48	95	72	96	51	64	53	70
Alcohol use in 1year								
Yes	82	34	8	1	95	83	91	82
No	18	66	92	99	3	16	8	17
Physical Exercise								
Sufficient	23	42	25	23	31	27	19	24
Insufficient	71	56	74	70	63	70	74	69
Can't due to sickness	6	2	1	7	6	3	7	7
BMI								
<20 underweight	6	19	3	7	2	3	1	4
20-24 normal weight	76	66	64	38	49	64	45	54
25-28 over weight	18	14	30	37	41	21	40	33
29 or more(obese)	0	0	3	18	8	12	14	10
<b>Educational Status</b>								
0-6yrs.	50	51	20	49	4	9	14	4
7-12yrs.	37	45	62	46	66	60	61	64
13yrs or more	13	4	18	5	30	31	25	32
Main Activity								
Working	57	42	40	8	85	67	61	47
Unemployed	23	13	39	17	6	8	20	26
Students	13	11	20	11	6	9	13	9
Inactive(retired/home)	7	34	1	64	3	16	6	18
Length of stay in Finland								
11yrs or longer	75	60	57	11	29	38	30	30
7-11yrs	10	16	29	57	52	48	36	37
2-6yrs	15	24	14	32	19	14	34	33

# Table 6 Descriptive statistics for all study variables

### 4.7 Analysis

SPSS version 17 was used for windows as statistical software for all the analysis. Analysis was first made to compare the health behavior of the various migrants groups to find out the distribution of the data. The health behavior variables were then categorized to suite the objectives of the study. All other variable were categories as described in 4.6.

To know the health behavior of migrants groups according to length of stay, cross tabulation was used. Smoking status, alcohol use, participation in physical activity and obesity were selected and put in the "Rows", Length of stay in the "column" while Nationality was selected in the first layer. Percentages in the columns of the cells were then selected.

Further comparisons were made using gender as reference in the second layer to find out gender differences in the health behavior and the prevalence of obesity within and among migrant groups by length of stay in Finland. The impact of migrants' educational background on their health behavior and the prevalence of obesity were also analyzed. Here we categorized the health behavior of the various migrants into the three categories of the educational background using cross tabulation. Our analysis also considered the influence of working status on migrants' health behavior and the prevalence of obesity. Pearson's chi-square test was used to measure the statistical power of the associations between migrants' health behavior by length stay, gender, education and main activity. Significance was determined at the 0.05 level.

# **5. RESULTS**

### 5.1 The health behavior and obesity of migrants by length of stay

Smoking and drinking habits as well as participation in sufficient health promoting physical activities are used as measures of migrants' health behavior. Length of stay in Finland was categorized into 2-6 years; 7-10 years; and 11 years or longer. There was no information about the length of stay of 11 (0.8%) participants, of which 7 were Russian and 4 were Estonians.

# Daily smoking among the migrant groups

The definition of daily smoking is the same as the World Health Organization's recommendation as described earlier.13 Russians and 7 Estonians who did not answer the question were eliminated from the analysis. Although the findings did not have statistical power, longer settlement time in Finland seems to have an association with increase daily smoking among the selected migrants as a group (see figure 1 for details).



Figure 1 Daily Smoking among migrants by length of stay in Finland (%)

When analyzed the effect of length of stay on smoking among the various migrants groups, the results indicate a significant association between increased length of stay in Finland and increased daily smoking among Somali migrants. Only 3% of the Somalis who had

lived for 2-6years smoked, 8% of those who had lived for 7-10years smoked and 20% of those who had lived for 11years or longer smoked daily. The results for the Vietnamese did not follow any particular trend. Though, those who had resided in Finland for the longest period smoked more. For Estonian and Russian migrants, the results seems to indicate that those who had lived in Finland for 7-10years smoked more than those who had resided in Finland for less than 7 years and those who had resided for more than 10years.

### The use of alcohol among migrant groups

Alcohol use is determined by the question on the use of alcohol in the last 12 months (Pohjanpää et al., 2003). Those who did not answer the question (7 Russians and 5 Estonians) were not included in the analysis. As shown in figure 2, increased length of stay in Finland has some effect (though not significant) on increased use of alcohol among migrants as a group.




When reviewing the impact of length of stay on the use of alcohol among migrant groups separately, it was significantly noted that, longer settlement time in Finland is associated with increased use of alcohol among Vietnamese and especially Somali migrants. As 51% of Vietnamese who had lived in Finland for 2-6years had used alcohol, 64% of those who had stayed for longest period (11 years or more) had used alcohol in the last 12 months.

None of the Somali migrants who had lived in Finland for 2-6 years had use alcohol in the past 12 months while only 3% of those who had lived for 7-10 years had use alcohol and 10% of those who had lived for 11 years or more had use alcohol in the last 12 months. Though, alcohol use is notably higher among Russian and Estonian migrants, increasing duration of stay in Finland does not seem to correlate with use of alcohol among Estonian and Russian migrants as shown in figure 2 above.

#### Physical activity among migrants

Sufficient health promoting physical activity is defined as any self-reported activity at least four times a week and at least half an hour each time, causing slight breathlessness and sweating (Pohjanpää et al., 2003). The is findings is based proportion of migrants who participated in physical activity less than 4/week, excluding 10 Russians, 8 Estonians, 8 Somalis and 1 Vietnamese who did not respond to this question. Also, 27 Russians, 5 Estonians, 6 Somalis and 7 Vietnamese who could not participate in physical exercise due to injury or sickness were eliminated from our analysis. Altogether, 5.3% of the respondents were eliminated.



Figure 3 Migrants' participation in physical activity less than 4times/week by length of stay in Finland

As indicated in figure 3, a huge chunk of the migrants did not engage in sufficient physical activity. 73% of the new comers did not participated in sufficient physical activities. Just as 74% of those who had lived for 7-10 years and those who had resided for 11 years or longer participated in physical activity less than 4time/week. Increasing duration of stay in Finland does not seem to have any association with participation in physical activity among all migrants groups. However for the Estonian migrants, there was a slight gradient (though insignificant) indicating that length of stay in Finland is somehow associated with less participation in physical exercise (for details see figure 3 above).

# **Obesity among migrant groups**

The prevalence of obesity is determined by the body mass index of the respondents. It is calculated by dividing weight (kg,) by the square of height (in meters). The answer is rounded to the nearest whole number. Persons whose body mass index is 29 or more are

classified as obese (Pohjanpää et al., 2003). 12 Russians, 7 Estonians, 11 Somalis and 2 Vietnamese were excluded because they did not answer the question.

Considering migrants as a group, increased length of stay in Finland seems to have an association with low prevalence of obesity. Obesity was less recorded among those migrants who had lived in Finland for a longer period than those who had resided for a shorter period. As the length of stay increases the proportion of migrants who are obese decreases (see details in figure 4 below).



Figure 4 Prevalence of obesity among migrants by length of stay in Finland (%)

The prevalence of obesity by length of stay among migrant groups separately indicated that, none Vietnamese were obese. For the Somali and Russian migrants it was observed that increasing duration of stay in Finland significantly associated with less prevalence of obesity. The prevalence of obesity by length of stay in Finland among Estonians presented mixed results. Although obesity was more prevalent among those who had lived in Finland for 7-10years, no trends could be seen in the prevalence of obesity by duration of stay in Finland among Estonians.

# 5.2 Migrants' health behavior and obesity by length of stay in Finland and gender Daily smoking among male and female in the migrant groups

Daily smoking among Vietnamese and especially Somali women is significantly associated with length of stay in Finland. Smoking was observed only among the Vietnamese women who had lived in Finland for 7 years or longer. None of the Vietnamese and Somali women who had lived in Finland for 2-6 years smoked. And of those Somali women who had lived for 7-10 years only 2% smoked whereas 15% of those who had lived for 11 years or longer smoked. Length of stay in Finland does not appear to have any effect on the smoking habit of Estonian and Russian women living in Finland as shown in figure 5.



Figure 5 Daily Smoking among migrants by length of stay in Finland and gender (%)

The smoking habit of the migrant men living Finland does not follow any trend with regards to length of stay in Finland. Vietnamese men who have lived in Finland for a shorter period (2-6years) smoked more while those who had lived for 7-10 years smoked less. The Somali men who had lived in Finland for 2-6 years smoked less than their

counterparts who had lived in Finland for 7 years or longer. Length of stay in Finland does not predict the smoking habit of Estonian and Russian in any direction. The Estonian and Russian men who had lived in Finland for 7-10years smoked more than those who had lived in Finland for 2-6 years and those who had lived for 11years or longer (see details in figure 5 above).

#### Alcohol use in the last 12months among male and female in migrant groups

The use of alcohol among female Vietnamese and Somali women seems to follow a similar pattern, although the proportions differ. Alcohol usage among Vietnamese women increases significantly among those who had lived longer in Finland. Somali women barely use alcohol. Only 1% of the Somali women who had lived in Finland for 7-10years and 5% of those who had lived for 11 years or longer had used alcohol. Although alcohol use in the last 12 months was common among Estonian women and Russian women, their drinking habits do not have any association with length of stay in Finland.



Figure 6 Alcohol use in the last 12 months among migrants by length of stay in Finland and gender (%)

The proportion of Vietnamese men who had used alcohol in the last 12 months was extremely higher than their women, but does not follow any direction in association with length of stay in Finland. For the Somali men, their drinking habit follows a similar pattern as their women. Although not significant, the Somali men who had stayed the longest period in Finland had used more alcohol in the last 12 months. Estonians and Russians in general have similar drinking habits. Use of alcohol in the last 12 months for both sexes was very high among both migrant groups. The proportion of those who had used alcohol in the last 12 months varies according to length of stay and gender. Alcohol use seems to increase progressively among Estonian and Russian men who had lived longer in Finland (see figure 6 for details).

# Physical activity among male and female in migrants groups

Surprisingly, Estonian and Russians had lived in a similar type of climate as in Finland, and thus are familiar with all seasonal Variations and sporting activities – whereas Somalis and Vietnamese have to adjust themselves to these seasonal variations.



Figure 7 Migrants' participation in physical activity less than 4times/week by length of stay in Finland and gender (%)

Migrants' participation in physical activities did not show any significant variation by gender, length of stay in Finland and by ethnicity. In general, a huge chunk of migrants reported participating in physical activities less than 4/week but no clear trends could be observed as shown in figure 7.

# **Obesity among male and female in migrant groups**

None of the Vietnamese was obese. Longer settlement time in Finland seems to associate with less prevalence of obesity among Somali and Russian women, though statistically insignificant. The longer the length of stay in Finland, the less cases of obesity was recorded among Somali and Russian women. There were also proportional variations. Obesity was higher among Somalis women than among Russian women. For the Estonian women, obesity was higher among those who had resided in Finland for 7-10 years than those who had resided for 2-6 years and those who had lived for 11 years or longer.



Figure 8 Obesity among migrants by length of stay in Finland and gender (%)

In contrast to their women, the only cases (6%) of obesity among the Somali men were recorded among those who had stayed in Finland for the longest period. In the case of the Estonian men, no clear pattern of the prevalence of obesity with regards to length of stay was observed. Among Russian men, increased length of stay in Finland was associated with lower prevalence of obesity. 18% of those who had lived in Finland for 2-6years were obese, 14% of those who had stayed for 7-10 years were obese while 15% of those who had lived for 11years or longer were obese.

#### 5.3 Impact of education on migrant's health behavior and obesity

The investigations further explore how migrants' educational background impacts their health behavior and the prevalence of obesity. Figure 9 shows a summary of the health behavior and prevalence of obesity according to the educational background of the migrants as a group. For separate analysis of the various migrant groups refer to figures 1-4 in the appendix. There was no information about the years of education from 31 (2.3%) of the participants of which 12 were Russians, 9 Estonians and 1 Vietnamese. These were eliminated from the analysis.



# Figure 9 Migrants' health behavior and the prevalence of obesity by number of years of education

Less years of education is significantly associated with daily smoking among Russian migrants. The prevalence of daily smoking among all the other migrant groups was more common to those who had studied for 7-12years as compare to those who have studied for 0-6years and those who have studied for more than 12 years or more (for details see figure 1 in appendix).

Educational years were recorded to have significant impact on the use of alcohol among the migrants as a whole. When analyzing the groups separately, it was observed that Somali migrants hardly drink. However for the few Somali migrants who had used alcohol, increased number of years of education correlates to increased use of alcohol in the last 12 months. Surprisingly, it was noted that an increased educational years is associated with insufficient participation in health promotion physical activity among all the migrants as a group. This scenario was not repeated while focusing on the migrant groups separately.

The prevalence of obesity in an association with years of education shows a different situation among all the migrants groups. For the Vietnamese migrants nobody was obese. On the other hand, obesity was more common among Somalis (women) than all other migrant groups especially among the Somalis who had lees years of education. Estonian migrants who were less educated were more obese than their counter parts that were more educated. The prevalence of obesity was less among the Russians who had studied for more years than those who had studied less. But obesity was higher among Russians who had studied for 7-12 years than those who had studied for 0-6 years and those who had studied for more than 12 years (see figure 4 in appendix for details).

#### 5.4 The impact of main activity on migrants' health behavior and obesity

The study tries to find out if an association between migrants' working status and their health behavior and obesity could be established. There were 61 (4.5%) respondents of which 44 Russians, 7 Estonians, 6 Somalis and 4 Vietnamese who were eliminated from the analysis, because they did not answer the question or answered as doing something else. Figure 10 describes the health behavior and prevalence of obesity of migrants as a whole according to their main activity. Detail description of the various migrants groups can be seen from figures 5 -8 in the appendix



Figure 10 Migrants' health behavior and prevalence of obesity by main activity

Daily smoking was observed to be significantly more frequent among Somali and Estonian migrants who were working (wage earners and entrepreneurs) than the unemployed, students and economically inactive. On the Contrary, the unemployed participants from Vietnam and Russia were noted to smoke more than their counterparts who were working. However, daily smoking was higher among Russian students than their counterparts. As expected, daily smoking among the economically inactive participants, from all the migrant groups was less frequent as compare to the unemployed, students and working respondents, except for Russians (see figure 5 in appendix for details).

Working was associated with high prevalence of alcohol use among all the migrant groups. The working migrants reported to have used more alcohol in the last 12 months than those who were unemployed, student or economically inactive. But from the Russian migrants, the proportion of students who had used alcohol was slightly higher than those working, unemployed and economically inactive (for more details refer to figure 6 in appendix).

No trends in migrants' participation in physical activity and their main activity could be observed. But it was surprisingly noted that the Vietnamese and Russian migrants who were working participated less in physical activities than their mates who were economically inactive, unemployed or student. The Somali unemployed participated less in physical activities than those who were working or economically inactive. The students among the Estonians were noted to participate less in physical activity (refer to figure 7 in appendix for details).

Obesity was not found among the Vietnamese migrants. Unemployment was statistically significantly associated with increased obesity among the Estonian and Russian migrants. But among the Somali migrants, the economically inactive migrants were more obese followed by the unemployed (more details can be found from figure 8 in the appendix).

#### **6.0 DISCUSSIONS**

#### 6.1 Possible explanations to the main findings of the study

The purpose is to discuss the thinking that lies behind the findings of this study and to review some approaches set for reducing the disparities in health behavior of migrants in Finland. The significance of broader social policy measures in reducing health inequalities, referring to experiences from other countries is touched. Furthermore, considerations of the problems as well as the opportunities in reducing health inequalities among migrants in Finland are discussed.

The primary aim of the study was to inquire the health behavior of the immigrants and to find if disparities exist within and among the health behavior of the various ethnic groups according to the settlement time in Finland. A comparison of the health behavior among and within Russians, Estonians, Somalis and Vietnamese living in Finland in 2002 is made from a survey conducted by Statistics Finland on the living conditions of immigrants (Pohjanpää et al., 2003). The ultimate aim was to find out if an association could be seen between the health behavior within and among the migrants groups according to their length of stay in Finland, their educational background, and their main activity in Finland.

While trying to find possible explanations to the findings of these studies, it is important to keep in mind that factors other than acculturation may contribute to the observed ethnic variations in the health behavior. Demographic variables like socioeconomic status, religious affiliation, and marital status of the immigrants may differ among the ethnic groups and also change as they stay longer in Finland. For example Estonians and Russians may differ from Vietnamese and Somalis in Finland. These differences also may account for differences in health behavior and confound the influence of acculturation. Both in Finland and in some of the migrants' home countries, the health behavior have changed considerably over the past few decades. These changes may confound the effect of acculturation. The socioeconomic status of the immigrants has changed over the years (e.g., educational attainment and economic status may have improved). These factors may influence health behavior independently of the degree of acculturation. Migrants who immigrated to Finland were not representative of the general population of their homelands. Accordingly, the health practices of the immigrants may have already differed from those of the general population in those countries.

The findings reveal that there are ethnic disparities in the health behavior of the migrants and that being a Vietnamese, Somali, Estonian or Russian to some extend could determine the health behavior of the migrants. Daily smoking was particularly high among Vietnamese in general and Somalis barely smoked. Alcohol use in the last 12 months was very common among Estonian and Russian migrants whereas very few Somalis had used alcohol in the last 12months.

Surprisingly, not much difference could be observed with regards to participation in physical activity by, length of stay in Finland, language proficiency and gender. Estonians and Russians who had lived in a similar type of climate, and thus are familiar with all seasonal Variations and sporting activities had similar habits regarding their participation in physical activity as the Somalis and Vietnamese who have to adjust themselves to these seasonal variations. Although, it was observed that those who are fluent in Finnish language participated more in physical activity, it was insignificant to draw any conclusions. This observation is quite difficult to explain. Obesity was significantly associated with acculturation among the migrants. Except for Vietnamese where there was no case of obesity, for the other migrant groups those who have resided for a longest period and those who are fluent in Finnish were less likely to be obese.

Gender variations within and among the migrants health behavior was very clear especially in the drinking and smoking habits of the subjects. Using cross tabulations, we found that smoking and alcohol use differs significantly for males and females among different ethnic groups. Males were more likely to smoke than their female counterparts and a same scenario is seen in Finnish population-25% males and 19% females smoked daily (Helakorpi. et al., 2003).

Generally, Vietnamese men, especially those who had resided in Finland for the longest period smoked more while their women hardly smoked. However it must be acknowledged that there were no clear trends in the smoking habits for Vietnamese men according to length of stay in Finland. But for Vietnamese women, longer settlement time in Finland seems to be detrimental factors for daily smoking. The few Somalis (both genders) who reported smoking daily were those who had lived in Finland for the longest period and those who were fluent in Finnish language. The acculturation effect on smoking was even more significant for Somali women than their men.

This observation can be partially due to the shift in perceived cultural and religious norms from the country of origin to the host country. Thus, drinking which is socially or religiously unaccepted in Somali society is a common practice in Finland. Furthermore, the acculturation effect on drinking and smoking could be as a result of how alcohol use and smoking are perceived in Vietnamese, Somali, and Finnish societies. The behavior, perception, and attitudes towards drinking and smoking differ among migrants countries of origins (Zhang & Wang, 2008). In some countries drinking and smoking are socially acceptable and even necessary for men, while it is socially unacceptable for women to smoke (Fu, et al., 2003). On the other hand, the use of alcohol and smoking in western societies is becoming more and more unacceptable, but it is liberal for both sexes. As a result, on migration, Vietnamese (women) and Somalis (both genders) seem to adapt to the norms in Finland or the liberalization of smoking and alcohol usage and start drinking and smoking. The opposite appears to be the case for Somalis where smoking is not liberal. As they get to Finland were smoking is not restricted, they start smoking.

Gender variations in alcohol use emerged significantly within and among the ethnic groups, especially for Vietnamese and Somalis. Males again, were typically more likely than their female counterparts to engage in this behavior. An increased use of alcohol was associated with longer settlement time in Finland and proficiency in Finnish language among Vietnamese women and Somalis (both genders), although the proportions were very less. The very few Vietnamese (women) and Somalis (both sexes) that had used alcohol were those that had lived in Finland for longer period and those that were fluent in Finnish language. Majority of Estonian and Russian (both genders) had used alcohol for the last 12 months.

However, it was observed that longer settlement time in Finland and being fluent in Finnish language was associated with increased use of alcohol among Russians men. An observation, which could probably be a financial issue, especially for newcomers who might be struggling with their finances, alcohol can be extremely expensive and irrelevant. Presumably, the rise in alcohol use that is associated with longer settlement time in Finland and language assimilation among Vietnamese Women and Somalis (both genders) reflect the influence of the dominant culture. Alcohol use is less prohibitive and less gender restricted in Finland than in traditional Vietnamese and Somali cultures. Alcohol is more readily available in Finland than in Vietnam and in Somalia. Thus the social environment may probably play an important role in determining the drinking behavior of these migrants. For example, cultural norms that prohibit or emphasize moderate drinking may result in lower alcohol consumption. Accordingly, changes in drinking norms that are more permissive toward alcohol consumption should lead to increased consumption levels. This normative interpretation of acculturation on drinking suggests that alcohol use among Vietnamese and Somalis can possibly converge with the patterns among Finns.

As mentioned above, obesity was not prevalent among Vietnamese migrants. However, obesity was less associated with increased length of stay and language proficiency among the remaining migrants groups (both sexes) except for Russian men where the opposite was the case. The high prevalence of obesity among the newcomers could be due to financial barriers. New comers might not have the financial means to purchase low fat foods which are expensive. Also, outdoor and indoor sporting activities which can help

cut down weight are equally expensive in Finland. Contrarily, the low prevalence of obesity among those who had stayed in Finland for the longest period might be due to more opportunities to purchase low fat foods and to engage in health promoting behaviors resulting from increased stability over time.

Societal influence could also partially explain why obesity was less among the some of the migrants who had resided in Finland for the longest period. Although obesity is an emerging global public health problem, malnutrition has historically been and it is still a critical challenge in developing countries. Therefore, obesity is differently understood across cultures. In some sub-Saharan African countries, there is no such definition for obesity. Instead, overweight and obesity have been historically seen as an evidence of wealth, good health and indeed good living. On the other hand, Finland like many other western societies frowns against obesity. These cultural preferences for large body size which is prevalent in developing countries were also reported among westerners until the mid-20th century. The shift from large to thin and cylindrical body size preference observed in the developed world has been enthusiastically promoted by the media, especially in television advertising. So as some ethnic minorities stay longer in Finland they may westernize their health behavior by losing weight and adapting to low fat foods.

Some variations were recorded in the smoking habit of the migrants with regards to the years of education. Although insignificant, it does appear that, overall, education is associated with decreased daily smoking among all the migrants. Only 15% of the migrants with more education versus 19% of those with less education smoked as compared to 17% Finns with more education and 26% Finns with less education who smoked in 2003 (Helakorpi et al., 2003). No clear trends could be seen between in the association of alcohol use and years of education among the ethnic groups separately. But there was a small gradient, suggesting that more years of education is associated with increased use of alcohol among Somalis. Unexpectedly, for the migrants as a whole more years of education is associated with increased use of alcohol. Years of education did not have any significant influence on participation in physical activity among the various

ethnic groups. Somalis who were less educated were more likely to be obese than the more educated. However the association between years of education and obesity could not be seen among Russian and Estonian migrants.

Under normal circumstances, education increases opportunities to acquire and comprehend knowledge about healthy living habits. But the results of this work do not seem to figure out the impact of education on migrants' health behavior. This might to some extent be so because education may not necessarily predict the socio-economic status of migrants in Finland as it would in the main stream population. Having good education hypothetically enhances the chances of securing a good job and potentially increasing the income level (Department of Health 2002). But is this the reality for migrants living in Finland? There is the temptation to speculate that perhaps, migrants in Finland with good education are not enjoying the fruits of education in Finland. Probably, why not much difference could be seen in the health behavior of the migrants with regards to the years of education.

The study confirms that, being unemployed was highly associated with daily smoking among the Russians and especially Vietnamese migrants. The opposite observation was seen among Estonians and Somalis where daily smoking was high among those who were employed. However for the migrants in general, daily smoking was slightly higher among the working class (27%) than the unemployed (24%). Daily smoking among Finnish adults shows a contra scenario, 33% of the unemployed smoked, while 22% entrepreneurs, 13% upper white-collar workers, 20% lower white-collar workers, and 33% blue-collar workers smoked daily (Helakorpi et al., 2003). Although no significant relation could be drawn between main activity and alcohol use among the various ethnic groups, students and the employed migrants were noted to have used more alcohol in the last 12 months. The differences in daily smoking and alcohol use of the migrants and the main stream population according to the main activity seem to be somehow a financial issue on the part of the migrants. Pohjanpääet al. (2003) reported that majority of ethnic groups living in Finland belong to lower socioeconomic class and have lower income on

an average than the main stream population. Low income can restrict their choices, especially, considering that tobacco and alcohol prices are expensive in Finland.

Unemployment was significantly associated with high prevalence of obesity among Somalis, Russians and Estonians. Not surprising the results seems to indicate that total disposable income determines dietary habits. Low income as a result of unemployment can restrict food choice, so the unemployed might end up eating poorer quality foods, such as cheaper cuts of meat with more fat and little meat. The unemployed might have no choice to consume more processed foods that are high in fat, salt, and sugar instead of more vegetables and fruits which might be expensive. McEwen et al. (2009) noticed that: rice pasta and meat were the main components of diet for Somalis in the UK while consumption of vegetables and fruits was less. Similar observation was reported among South Asian and African Caribbean groups living in the UK. For example, South Asians in lower socio-economic classes living in London were reported purchasing cooking oil, meat, and high-fat foods on a weekly basis (Penelope & Khokhar, 2008). These could be a typical food culture or a financial problem.

#### **6.2** Relation to other studies

To some extent, the results of this study may (Sealy, 2010; Hunt et al., 2004; Kristin et al., 2008 and Cockerham, 2007) confirm the consistencies reported in previous research on migrants' health behavior. Thus health habits can be influenced by cultural values and beliefs which reflect the observed ethnic disparities in health behavior (Hunt et al. 2004). The drinking habits of Russians and Estonians (former Soviet Union countries) have been well documented. In a review, Kunst et al. (2003) identified high prevalence of alcohol use among people from former Soviet Union. The increased use of alcohol observed in this study has been recorded by other scholars to be highly significant associated with high prevalence of cardiovascular diseases among Russians (Lang 2009).

This work has found that the least acculturated Somali women and Vietnamese women are more likely to abstain from alcohol and smoking than their more acculturated counterparts. This is consistent with other researches that have used different measures of acculturation. Most studies that focus on migrants health behavior using language as a measure of acculturation, have found that alcohol use and illicit drug use rises with greater linguistic assimilation (Epstein et al., 2001; Nielsen & Ford 2000). In their conclusion, Epstein et al. (2001) stated that Latino migrants in New York City who spoke only Spanish with their family were less likely to use alcohol than their colleagues who used English as medium of communication at home. Similarly, a recent research has demonstrated a positive association between acculturation and alcohol use as well as other health risk behaviors, including cigarette smoking and illicit drug use among multi-ethnic Latino adolescents in the USA (Gonza lez Wahl & Eitle, 2010).

Scholars widely agree that some cultures in African and Asia discourage and sanctions drinking among women but not men. Consistent with this research, many studies have reported significant gender differences in alcohol use among multiple ethnic groups. Without any exceptions, this work indicates that the migrant women are more likely to abstain while the men had use alcohol more frequently (Nielsen, 2000; Gonza lez Wahl & Eitle, 2010).

With few exceptions, the results of this work and other scholars (Nielsen, 2000; Gonza'lez Wahl & Eitle, 2010) indicates that migrant women (especially least acculturated) are more likely to abstain while their more acculturated women use alcohol more frequently. The gender difference on acculturation and health behavior of migrants are evident across multiple ethnic groups (Gonza'lez Wahl & Eitle, 20010). Because of these differences, a number of recent studies have separated the effects of acculturation by gender. Among adults, some studies have found that alcohol use increases with acculturation regardless of gender. Other research, however, concludes that this association holds for women but not men (Gonza'lez Wahl & Eitle 2010; Nina, 2009; Zemore 2005).

Longer settlement time in Australia has been found to have a positive association with less smoking among Vietnamese living in Australia Brock et al. (2001). Contrarily, this result shows that longer settlement in Finland is associated with increased smoking among Vietnamese and Somalis. But the opposite is the case for Estonians and Russians.

The result of this study revealed that migrants who had lived longer in Finland are more likely to engage in physical activity. Similarly, (Brock K et al., (2001) recorded that Vietnamese who had lived longer in Australia participated more in physical activity than those who had lived for a shorter period. Not all, Nina et al. (2009) also assume that physical activity decreases immediately upon arrival in the host country for several reasons, but after an adjustment period, there is an increase in leisure time activities among many immigrant populations.

The protective effect of acculturation on obesity indicated by the result of this study is largely consistent with other studies. Lassetter et al., (2009) reported that migrants who had resided in the United States less than 1 year were obese, compared to migrants who had lived in the United States for 15 years or longer. Opposing to these results, Goel et al. (2004) documented that despite having lived in America for over decade migrants tend to gain weight. Female and male migrants initially have BMIs that are lower than their U.S.-born residents. However, within 10 years and 15 years, respectively, female and male migrants have BMIs that is almost as Americans BMIs (Antecol & Bedard, 2006).

Although education has been reported to have a positive effect on health behaviors in the general population, the results revealed the opposite. Relative to migrants (all) with few years of education, those with more years of education were more likely to have used alcohol. When revealing separately, no clear trends could be seen in the association between migrant's educational background and alcohol usage. As discussed by Cockerham (2005), alcohol use and smoking are important health behavior that can have a huge impact on health and usually indicate differences in socio-economic classes.

However he did not find any incentive to study class-health behavior association 'As put in plain words by Cockerham (2005), 'Soviet society was described as a classless society, without class oppression, private property, or health inequalities'. But relative to Somali migrants with lower education, those with higher educational attainment were more likely to use alcohol.

Opposing to this study, a higher educational level has been positively associated with greater participation in physical activity (van Oort et al 2006). Low education has been observed to be a determinant of smoking among adults in developed countries (Huisman, 2005). Similarly, this study found low education to have a positive association smoking. However, some of the findings of this study for the determinants of smoking were different from known determinants. Surprisingly, differences have been found for main activity and smoking. Smoking was high among working than among unemployed for all migrants. In line with these findings, some studies of the determinants of smoking behavior have shown similar results (Reine, 2004)

# 6.3 Validity and reliability of the study

Eligible participants for the study were identified from the national population register, who at the time of the data collection had resided legally in Finland for at least 2years. The definition of legally and regular residence in Finland leaves out those migrants who had entered the country on temporarily basis. All the immigrants born in the countries concern were first selected. A primary analysis was done to eliminate those who did not meet all the selection criteria for the study and others included. Participants were contacted via postal mail to inform them about the study.

A pre-test of the questions was done in order to minimize the problems that could arise in administering the interview and corrections were made to avoid any ambiguity and translation errors. After several revisions, the final version of the questionnaire was produced in each of the four languages and in Finnish. There was a back-translation of all the interviews and questionnaire received in any of the four languages to Finnish. All the bilingual personnel who translated the interview were professionals. Data entry and clearance of the data were done by professionals from Statistics Finland. The researcher received only anonymous electronic data from Statistics Finland after permission has been sorted and granted.

This is the first and the largest study to examine the relationship between health behavior and obesity by length of stay, gender, education, main activity and ethnicity using a large sample that includes Vietnamese, Somali, Estonian, and Russian migrants living in Finland. In spite of the known disparities that exist in the health behavior of these ethnic groups in Finland, scholars have yet to unravel the complex associations among these factors. This analysis clarifies several important effects by comparing the relationship within and among the health behavior by length of stay of four different ethnic groups. The study also disentangled the association between health behavior and obesity of the selected migrants according to language assimilation, years of education, and main activity of the subjects.

Using smoking, alcohol use, and physical activity as measures of health behavior was motivated by the knowledge that these three habits are major risk or protective factors to important public health problems in Finland. There was no data on dietary habits which is another important factor for public health problems; therefore obesity was included in the analysis. The study mostly consisted of people of working age because socio-economic health disparities are more visible in this age.

Education, and main activity or occupational status as indicators of socio-economic position, can be associated with health behavior in different ways. People who are educated have the opportunity to acquire and comprehend healthy living habits such as reduce alcohol intake, decrease smoking and increase physical activity. People who are employed in Finland often have access to sports facilities and to occupational health

services and counseling, which can be assets in combating alcohol and tobacco use, for instance.

Education and main activity indicate socio-economic status in different ways at different stages of life. Occupational status is a useful indicator for the subjects of the study who were of working age. Choosing education and main activity as indicators of socio-economic position, is firstly because evidence on educational and occupational differences in health behavior is most readily available, and secondly because education and occupational status are best suited for comparisons of groups of different ages.

In view of the available data, it is safe to argue that this is the largest, current and quality data on migrants' health in Finland and therefore justify it use for such analysis which is primarily meant to identify the factors associated with the health behavior of the migrants.

#### 6.4 Limitations of the study

The different data collection methods employed for this study caused some methodological constrains and bias. The use of postal questionnaires for Russians and Estonians did not allow the possibility to explain any points in the questions that the participants might have misunderstood. Not surprisingly, the missing information about some of the questions was higher among Russian and Estonian (who had postal questionnaire) than the Somalis and Vietnamese (who had interview) participants.

Misinterpretation is also likely while categorizing open-ended responses. Respondents may have answered superficially especially in this study were the questionnaire was too long to complete. Participants who were interviewed may have not been willing to answer the questions or reveal the information in the presence of an unknown interviewer and interpreter.

The analysis of the study did not consider other possible confounding factors to health behavior. Looking for the differences in health behavior of the participants by their age and the age at migration would have helped to identify the risk groups. It makes difference when one migrates as a child, adolescent or as adult. However the data was too small for search analysis.

The study did not also consider other dimensions of acculturation. A validated proxies for acculturation: Finnish language use and settlement time in Finland were used. A multidimensional scales offer a more precise measure of acculturation. While a multi-component acculturation scale was available, for example measures of ethnic identity, proportion of friends who are Finns, etc. can be used in a different study.

Probably length of stay would have been better categorized to get a clear picture of the health behavior of the newcomers and those who had stayed longer. But the number of subjects who had stayed in Finland for few years was too small that only two categories could be made. This study took place in Helsinki metropolitan area, Turku and Tampere and despite the high concentration of the selected migrants in these areas; it is unclear whether our results can be generalized to the broader migrants' adult population living in other regions of the country

#### 6.5 Implications to the migrants and public health

The difference in the prevalence of smoking between men and women in Finland has narrowed as female smokers have increased. Because the smoking rate among Vietnamese and Somali women is low, it is important to keep these women from becoming smokers. Along with targeted intervention to assist men in smoking cessation, these nonsmoking women should be offered culturally appropriate smoking prevention education. As recorded in this study, the Somali and Vietnamese women who are more acculturated were more likely to smoke. If nothing is done now to stop this trend, the prevalence of daily smoking among these migrants will eventually converge with that of the main stream. These will make effort to combat smoking in the main stream population be in vain.

Alcohol consumption was noted to be higher among Russian and Estonian migrants. The impact of alcohol on the health and wellbeing of these migrants was not researched. There is the possibility that there are heavy drinkers who will not be clinically diagnosed as alcohol-dependent, because excessive drinking is usually periodic, and often people who drink heavily have the perception of control over alcohol and lack of resulting problems. In addition, single high-volume alcohol consumption implies specific and important risks to health and well-being as documented (Organista, 2007). The concerns about health, safety, and social consequences of heavy drinking are highlighted in the U.S. literature (Organista, 2007). The drinking patterns of Russians especially men have been linked to serious health and social consequences including accident and injury, sexually transmitted infections, HIV, and domestic violence. The health consequences of alcohol abuse are numerous. It affects many organs in the body. To determine the health effects of heavy alcohol consumption among the migrants, researchers will benefit by monitoring cirrhosis mortality, because heavy drinking is by far the most important risk factor for that disorder.

Age standardized death rate from well-known alcohol related diseases such as chronic liver disease and cirrhosis doubled in Estonia between 1990 and 1995. These data indicate that alcohol should be a concern for public health among Estonians and Russians living in Finland. With such a huge proportion of Estonians and Russians reported using alcohol in the past 12 months and the information available about the drinking habits in migrants' home country, it is important to intervene with public health measures. This level of drinking is associated with an increased risk of many of the manifestations of alcohol related problems such as injuries which can be used to give an idea of the scale of the problem.

Furthermore, it is important to realize that the health outcomes and other determinants of wellbeing of migrants will not necessarily improve over time as migrants become more established economically and more familiar with societal norms. Therefore, taken into account such a general hypothesis that migrants will suffer both short-term dangers and long-term deterioration effects of being in Finland (different environment) - how do unhealthy health behaviors fit in?

Although the literature seems to be equivocal on the issue pertaining to the health status of migrants entering new host country, the results of this work and the literature widely support the healthy immigrant effect' (Singh and Miller, 2004; Fennelly, 2007). A 'healthy immigrant effect' exists where many migrants are in good health when entering a new host country due to the routine healthy lifestyle behaviors which they are accustomed to in their country of origin. For example: doing physically demanding work, walking, eating foods high in fiber and low in fat (Perez, 2002, Berrigan et al., 2006, Barnes & Almasy, 2005). However, with few exceptions, the results of this work and other indicate that the condition erodes as migrants become more acculturated (Perez, 2002, Tremblay et al., 2006). Thus some minorities from non-western societies westernize their health by adopting behaviors such as the consumption of high fatty foods, smoking, alcohol intake and a more sedentary lifestyle (Hosper et al., 2007, Wolin et al., 2006). The adoption of these lifestyle behaviors by migrants are detrimental factors for well-established mortalities such as hypertension, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, obesity and poor mental health.(Steffen et al., 2006, Guerin et al., 2007, Schulz et al., 2006).

#### 6.6 Recommendations for further studies

Social and health policy research has paid only scant attention to the health and health behavior of migrants in Finland. Very few evaluations have been conducted to assess the impacts of migration on health and health inequalities among migrants in Finland. There seems to be limitations in policy research and the limited knowledge available about the exact dynamics and mechanisms behind migrants' health in Finland. These call for further discussions about how to intervene in migrants' well-being in Finland. There is no doubt that more effort is needed to improve research policy on migrant health, more especially as the proportion of immigrants in Finland is swelling.

Another limitation is that this study has been cross-sectional in nature. Limited or no data are available on how migration to Finland influences the health behaviors of migrant populations over time, making it difficult to infer causation. Future studies would benefit from controlled intervention trials and longitudinal designs that carefully assess the outcome of health behavior and mortalities associated with the process of migration and the effects that migration has on the outcome of health.

The most important information gaps must also be filled by appropriately targeted research on the perceptions and beliefs of migrants about their health behavior. It would be interesting to commission a qualitative research such as focus group discussions to explore the reasons behind the lifestyle choices of the migrants. There might be some cultural factors and the lack of appropriate information and other issues that can be unveiled by qualitative measures. Further, it has been pointed out that more research is also needed into the effect of acculturation on migrants' health and health behavior.

The results of this study only indicate an association between migrants' health behavior and length of stay, language proficiency, education and main activity. However the study did not establish which of these factors is an independent predictor of which health behavior for which migrant group. Further research is therefore necessary to disentangle what factor(s) predict which health behavior of which migrant group.

#### 6.7 Conclusions and recommendations

The present study's findings suggest that smoking prevalence is very high among Vietnamese men in Finland, especially among those who are less acculturated. This finding warrants a program planning effort at the local level targeting this special population group in order to achieve a reduction in smoking. The Results emphasize the need to implement effective, culturally appropriate, language-specific tobacco control interventions among Vietnamese living in Finland. Furthermore, smokers among this group are simultaneously engaged in multiple risk behaviors that increase their risk of various chronic diseases and cancer. This subgroup might benefit from programs that focus simultaneously on smoking cessation as well as other risk behaviors.

Prevalence of alcohol use among Russians and Estonians was high and warrants intervention and prevention. Future studies must address the determinants and characteristics of alcohol use among Russians and Estonians in order to develop and provide adequate treatment services to these populations. Such studies also must consider the heterogeneity of the migrant population as well as the cultural differences within ethnic groups.

The investigations have suggested that the migration to Finland has a detrimental effect on the health behaviors of Somalis and Vietnamese women. As they assimilate to their new surroundings, explore different cultures and customs, and embrace a new way of life. In particular, there is evidence that daily smoking and alcohol use increases among Somalis and Vietnamese women who are more acculturated.

Clearly, there are particular barriers and challenges associated with the decreased physical activity levels, yet research has also recognized possible strategies for overcoming these barriers and challenges. Despite the significance of this literature, there are a number of gaps that do exist and should be considered when undertaking further research with migrant groups.

There may also be some issues associated with the measures of acculturation and assessing the behaviors of migrant groups. These groups represent a variety of nationalities and ethno-cultural groups, and as such, the meanings of the results are likely to vary. In consideration of this, a larger sample is needed for generalization of the results. Furthermore, the different data collection methods employed for this study caused some methodological constrains and bias in comparing the migrant groups.

One particular approach that needs to be highlighted is the need for cultural sensitivity on the part of the health professional in planning intervention programs. It is imperative that health programs targeted for migrant groups acknowledge cultural diversity, display a culturally sensitive attitude, and place the individual at the centre of programme development in an attempt to respond to their specific needs and deliver a programme that encourages participation and respects the culture of the participant.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This thesis would have not been materialized without the encouragement and support I received from some special people to whom I would like to express my profound gratitude.

I would like to thank the Almighty for God for given me the strength and guidance throughout my life and studies.

I owe a respectful thanks to my supervisor Dr. Maili Malin, PhD; Senior Researcher, National Institute for Health and Welfare who showed interest in my proposal and worked vigorously to help secure the data for this study and for her guidance and supervision.

My greatest thanks goes to Reijo Samela, MD, PhD Professor of International Health at University of Tampere, Medical School for the valuable pieces of advice and guidance given me throughout this work.

At the same time I would like to express my warmest thanks to Hanna Nohynek, MD PhD, Academy Scientist; Per Ashorn, MD, PhD Professor of International Health; Clas-Håkan Nygård PhD, Professor of Occupational Health; Ulla Harjunmaa, Senior Lecturer, and the entire Students of Master's Degree Programme in Health Sciences (International Health and Public Health) for their enlightening conversations, encouraging words, tips, and pieces of advice during the thesis seminars.

Finally I would like to say big thanks to all my family and friends for their caring, motivating words, and friendship which made my studies successful

# REFFERENCES

Abbott P. Living Conditions, Lifestyles and Health in Armenia, Belarus, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Moldova, Russia and Ukraine: Social Trends 1990–2002. Vienna: Institute for Social Research. 2002

Amesty SC, Barriers to physical activity in the Hispanic community. Journal of Public Health Policy. 2003; 24(1):41-58

Antecol H, Bedard K. Unhealthy assimilation: why do immigrants converge to American health status levels?..Demography. 2006; 43(2):337-60.

Aranceta J, Perez-Rodrigo C, Serra-Majem L, Ribas L, Quiles-Izquierdo J, Vioque J, Foz M. Spanish Collaborative Group for the Study of Obesity. Influence of socio-demographic factors in the prevalence of obesity in Spain. The SEEDO'97 Study.European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2001 [cited 2001 Jun];55(6):430-5.

Ayala GX, Baquero B, Klinger S. A systematic review of the relationship between acculturation and diet among Latinos in the United States: implications for future research. J Am Diet Assoc. 2008 Aug;108(8):1330-44.

Amodeo M, Robb N, Peou S, Tran H. Alcohol and other drug problems among Southeast Asians: Patterns of use and approaches to assessment and intervention. Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly. 1997;15:63-77

Barnes DM, Almasy N. Refugees' perceptions of healthy behaviors. J Immigr Health 2005; 7 (3): 185-93

Belza B, Walwick J, Shiu-Thornton S, Schwartz S, Taylor M, LoGerfo J. Older adult perspectives on physical activity and exercise: voices from multiple cultures. Preventing Chronic Disease. 2004;1(4):A09

Berrigan D, Dodd K, Troiano RP, Reeve BB, Ballard-Barbash R. Physical activity and acculturation among adult Hispanics in the United States. Res Q Exerc Sport 2006; 77 (2): 147-57

Berry J. Conceptual approaches to acculturation. In: Chun, K., Balls Organista, P. and Marin, G., Editors, 2003. Acculturation: Advances in theory, measurement and applied research, American Psychological Association, Washington, DC, pp. 17–37

Bethel JW, Schenker MB. Acculturation and smoking patterns among Hispanics: A review. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2005; 29(2), 143–148.

Burns C, Webster K, Crotty P, et al. Easing the transition: food and nutrition issues of new arrivals. Health Prom J Australia. 2000; 10 (3): 230-6

Brock K, Lockwood E, Cant BR, Bermingham M, Tran-Dinh H. An investigation of health behavior change in Vietnamese-born individuals living in Sydney, Australia. 2001;11(3):385-90.

Caperchione CM, Kolt GS, Mummery WK. Physical activity in culturally and linguistically diverse migrant groups to Western society: a review of barriers, enablers and experiences. Sports Medicine. 2009;39(3):167-77.

Castles S, Miller MJ. The Age of Migration. Guilford Press, New York. (2003)

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. State-specific prevalence of current cigarette smoking among adults, and policies and attitudes about secondhand smoke-United States, 2000.Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 2001; 50, 1101–1106.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Cigarette smoking among adults-United States, 2000. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 51, 642–645.

Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Prevalence of cigarette use among 14 racial/ethnic populations—United States, 1999–2001. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 2004; 53, 49–52

Cockerham, WC. Health lifestyle theory and the convergence of agency and structure, Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 2005; 46, 51–67.

Cockerham WC. Health lifestyles and the absence of the Russian middle class. Social Health Illn. 2007;29(3):457-73.

Cornelisse-Vermaat JR, van den Brink HM. Ethnic differences in lifestyle and overweight in the Netherlands. Obesity. 2007; 15(2):483-93.

Chandola T. Ethnic and class differences in health in relation to BritishSouth Asians: using the new National Statistics Socio-Economic Classification Social Science &Medicine, 2001; 52. 1285-1296

Choudhry UK. Up rooting and resettlement experiences of South Asian immigrant women. West J Nurs Res 2001 Jun; 23 (4): 376-93

Epstein JA, Botvin GJ, Diaz T. Linguistic acculturation associated with higher marijuana and polydrug use among Hispanic adolescents. Substance Use and Misuse, 2001; 36, 477-499

Escobar J. and Vega W. Mental health and immigration's AAAs: Where are we and where do we go from here?. The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disorders. 2000; 188, pp. 736–740

Fennelly K. The "healthy migrant" effect. Minn Med 2007; 90 (3): 51-3

Fu SS, Ma GX, Tu XM, Siu PT, Metlay JP. Cigarette smoking among Chinese Americans and the influence of linguistic acculturation. Nicotine & Tobacco Research. 2003; 5(6), 803–811.

Gedrich K. Determinants of nutritional behaviour: a multitude of levers for successful intervention? Appetite.2003; 41:231-238.

Gilbert PA, Khokhar S. Changing dietary habits of ethnic groups in Europe and implications for health.. Nutrition Reviews. 2008;66(4):203-15.

Giskes K, Kunst AE, Benach J, Borrell C. Costa Get al., Dahl E. Trends in smoking behaviour between 1985 and 2000 in nine European countries by education. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health. 2005; 59(5):395-401

Goel MS, McCarthy EP, Phillips RS, Wee CC. Obesity among US immigrant subgroups by duration of residence. JAMA. 2004; 292(23):2860-7.

Gonza'lez Wahl AM, Eitle TM. Racial/ethnic differences in adolescent substance use: mediation by individual, family, and school factors. Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs 2010

Guerin PB, Diiriye RO, Corrigan C. Physical activity programs for refugee Somali women: working out in a new country. Women Health. 2003; 38 (1): 83-99

Guerin PB, Elmi FH, Corrigan C. Body composition and cardiorespiratory fitness among refugee Somali women living in New Zealand. J Immigr Minor Health 2007; 9 (3): 191-6

Griesler PC, Kandel DB, Davies M. Ethnic differences in predictors of initiation and persistence of adolescent cigarette smoking in the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth.. Nicotine & Tobacco Research. 2002; 4(1):79-93.

Haas JS, Lee LB, Kaplan CP, Sonneborn D, Phillips KA, Liang SY. The association of race, socioeconomic status, and health insurance status with the prevalence of overweight among children and adolescents. American Journal of Public Health. 2003; 93(12):2105-10.

Hammar N, Hakala P, Jörgensen L, Becker W, Hedlund E,5, Rönnemaa T, Koskenvuo M, Kaprio J. Migration and differences in dietary habits-a cross sectional study of Finnish twins in Swede. .European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2009;63(3):312-322

Helakorpi S, Patja K, Prättälä R, Aro AR, Uutela A. Suomalaisen aikuisväestön Terveyskäyttäytyminen ja terveys, Kevät 2003. Publications of the National Public Health Institute 2003; B/17

Hispanic Center of Excellence. (home page on the internet). Definition of Acculturation Available from: http://www.rice.edu/projects/HispanicHealth/index.html, www. dictionary.com)

Hosper K, Nierkens V, Nicolaou M, Stronks K. Behavioural risk factors in two generations of non-Western migrants: do trends converge towards the host population? Eur J Epidemiol 2007; 22 (3): 163-72

Huisman M, Kunst A and Mackenbach J. Educational inequalities in smoking among men and women aged 16 years and older in 11 European countries. Tobacco Control. 2005; 14(2):106-113

Hunt L, Schneider S, Comer B. Should "acculturation" be a variable in health research? A critical review of research on US Hispanics. Social Science & Medicine. 2004; 59,5, Pages 973-986

Hussey JM, Hallfors DD, Waller MW, Iritani BJ, Halpern CT, Bauer DJ. Sexual behavior and drug use among Asian and Latino adolescents: association with immigrant status. Journal of Immigrant & Minority Health. 2007; 9(2):85-94

Jenkins, CN, McPhee, SJ, Le, A., Pham G Q, Ha NT. Stewart S. The effectiveness of a media-led intervention to reduce smoking among Vietnamese-American men. American Journal of Public Health, 1997; 87, 1031–1034

Kim SS, Ziedonis D, Chen KW. Tobacco use and dependence in Asian Americans: A review of the literature. Nicotine & Tobacco Research. 2007; 9(2), 169–184.

Kalavar J, Kolt G, Giles L. Physical activity in older Asian Indians living in the United States: barriers and motives. Activ Adapt Aging; 2004; 29 (1): 47-67

Kosonen L. Growing up Vietnamese in Finland: Looking Back 12 Years Later. The Well-Being and Sociocultural Adaptation of Vietnamese as Children or Adolescents and as Young Adults . University of Helsinki. 2008; 978-952-10-5017-6

Kreuter MW, McClure SM. The role of culture in health communication. Ann Rev Public Health. 2004;25:439-455

Kristin KW, Giuliani MHS, Osman A. Tobacco Use and Cessation Among Somalis in Minnesota. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2008; 35(6): 457-S462

Kunst AE, Leinsalu M, Kasmel A, Habicht J. Social inequalities in health in Estonia. Main report. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia; 2002.

Lang K. Ethnic differences in cancer incidence in Estonia: two cross-sectional unlinked census-based cancer incidence analyses. Popul Health Metr. 2009; 7:10.

Lassetter JH, Callister LC. (2009). The Impact of Migration on the Health of Voluntary Migrants in Western Societies: A Review of the Literature. Journal of Transcultural Nursing Issue: Volume 20(1), p 93–104

Lawton J, Ahmad N, Hanna L. 'I can't do any serious exercise': barriers to physical activity amongst people of Pakistani and Indian origin with type 2 diabetes. Health Educ. 2006; (1): 43-54

Lindstrom M, Sundquist J. Ethnic differences in daily smoking in Malmo, Sweden: Varying influence of psychosocial and economic factors. European Journal of Public Health. 2002; 12(4):287-294

Maxwell S, Salah S, Bunn J. Dietary habits of the Somali population in Liverpool, with respect to foods containing calcium and vitamin D: a cause for concern? Journal of Human Nutrition & Dietetics. 2006; 19(2):125-127

McEwen A, Straus L, Croker H. Dietary beliefs and behaviour of a UK Somali population. Journal of Human Nutrition & Dietetics. 2009; 22(2):116-21.

Men T, Brennan P, Boffetta P. Zaridze D. Russian mortality trends for 1991–2001:analysis by cause and region, British Medical Journal. 2005; 327, 964–70.

Mohammad MR, Nhien TL, Hozefa AD, Jesser C, Golz SD, Thirumalaiet K al. Prevalence and predictors of smoking behavior among Vietnamese men living in California. Nicotine & Tobacco Research. 2005; 7 103–10

Morgan CL, Currie CJ, Peters JR. Relationship between diabetes and mortality: a population study using record linkage. Diabetes Care. 2000; 23, 1103–1107.

Mosby's Medical Dictionary, 8th edition. 2009, Elsevier. (Cited 2011 Jan. 11). Available from: <u>http://medical-dictionary.thefreedictionary.com/health+behavior</u>

Must A., Spadano J. Coakley, EH, Field AE, Colditz G, Dietz WH. The disease burden associated with overweight and obesity. JAMA. 1999; 282, 1523–1529.

National Center for Health Statistics. Health, United States With Chart book on Trends in the Health of Americans. DHHS Publication 2005; No. 1232. (Cited 2010 Oct. 9). Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK20990/

Nielsen AL, Ford JA. Drinking patterns among Hispanic adolescents: results from a National Household Survey. J Student Alcohol.2001; 62:448–56.

Ning A, Cochran SD, Mays VM, McCarthy WJ. Influence of American acculturation on cigarette smoking behaviors among Asian American subpopulations in California. Nicotine & Tobacco Research. 2008; 10(4); 579–587

Organista, K.C. Commentary: The need to explicate culturally competent approaches with Latino clients. In J. Christopher Muran (Ed.), Dialogues on difference. 2007; 168-175

Paisley JA. Haines J, Greenberg M. An examination of cancerrisk beliefs among adults from Toronto's Somali, Chinese, Russian and Spanish-speaking communities. Can. J. Public Health. 2002; 93, 138–141.

Palosuo H. Koskinen S. Lahelma E. Kostiainen E. Prättälä R, Martelin T., et al., Health inequalities in Finland. Trends in socioeconomic health differences 1980-2005. Ministry of Social Affairs and Health Publications 2009:9. (Cited 2011 Jan. 15). Available from: http://www.stm.fi/c/document\_library/get\_file?folderId=39503&name=DLFE-8648.pdf

Palosuo H. Health-related lifestyles and alienation in Moscow and Helsinki, Social Scienceand Medicine. 2000; 51, 1325–41.

Palosuo H. Health and Well-being in Moscow and Helsinki. Helsinki: STAKES. 2003

Parikh NS, Fahs MC, Shelley D, Yerneni R. Health Behaviors of Older Chinese Adults Living in New York City. Journal of Community Health. 2009; 34(1):6-15

Penelope AG. Khokhar S. Changing dietary habits of ethnic groups in Europe and implications for health. Nutrition Reviews 200; 66(4):203-15

Perez CE. Health status and health behaviour among immigrants. Health Reports 2002;13: 89-100

Perlman F, Bobak M, Steptoe A, Rose R. and Marmot M. Do health control beliefs predict behaviour in Russians? PreventiveMedicine, 2003; 37, 73–81.
Pohjanpää K, Paananen S, Nieminen M. Maahanmuuttajien elinolot.Venäläisten, virolaisten, somalialaisten ja vietnamilaisten elämää Suomessa 2002.Statistic Finland. Elinolot 2003:1

Rahu M, McKee M: Epidemiological research labeled as a violation of privacy: the case of Estonia. Int J Epidemiol 2008, 37:678-82.

Richardson S, Miller-Lewis L, Ngo P. The settlement experiences of new migrants: a comparison of wave one of LSIA 1 and LSIA 2. Canberra (ACT): DIMIA, 2002

Reine I, Novo M, Hammarstrom A. Does the association between ill health and unemployment differ between young people and adults? Results from a 14-year follow-up study with a focus on psychological health and smoking. Public Health. 2004;118:337-345

Rogerson M, Emes C. Physical activity older immigrants and cultural competence: a guide for fitness practitioners. Activ Adapt Aging 2006; 30 (4): 15-27

Salanta T, Lauderdale DS. Measuring culture: a critical review of acculturation and health in Asian immigrant populations Social Science & Medicine 57 (2003) 71–90

Sealy YM. Parents' Food Choices: Obesity Among Minority Parents and Children Journal of community health nursing. 2010; 27 (1) : 1-11

Schulz LO, Bennett PH, Ravussin E, Kidd JR, Kidd KK, Esparza J, Valencia ME. Effects of traditional and western environments on prevalence of type 2 diabetes in Pima Indians in Mexico and the U.S. Diabetes Care 2006; 29 (8): 1866-71

Singh GK, Miller BA. Health life expectancy and mortality patterns among immigrant populations in the United States. Can J Public Health 2004; 95 (3): I14-21

Song YJ, Hofstetter CR, Hovell MF, Paik HY, Park HR, Lee J, Irvin V. Acculturation and health risk behaviors among Californians of Korean descent. Prev Med 2004; 39:147-156.

Statistics Finland, Foreigners in finland, official Home page.: (Cited Nov.2010). Available from: <a href="http://www.stat.fi/tup/suoluk/suoluk\_vaesto\_en.html#Foreigners">www.stat.fi/tup/suoluk/suoluk\_vaesto\_en.html#Foreigners</a>

Steffen PR, Smith TB, Larson M. Acculturation to Western society as a risk factor for high blood pressure: a meta-analytic review. Psychosom Med 2006; 68 (3): 386-97

Straus L, McEwen A, Croker H. Smoking prevalence and attitudes of a Somali population in London. J. Smoking Cessation. 2007 2, 68-72.

Tremblay MS, Bryan SN, Perez CE, et al. Physical activity and immigrant status: evidence from the Canadian Community Health Survey. Can J Public Health 2006; 97 (4): 277-82

Trimble J. 2003. Introduction: Social change and acculturation. In: Chun, K., Balls Organista, P. and Marin, G., Editors, 2003. Acculturation: Advances in theory, measurement, and applied research, American Psychological Association, Washington, DC, pp. 3–13.

Tucker JS, Ellickson PL, Klein DJ. Predictors of the transition to regular smoking during adolescence and young adulthood. Journal of Adolescent Health.2003; 32:314-324.

UNHCR (home page on the internet). United Nations High Commissioner of Refugees. 2007 (Cited 2010 Aug. 26) Available from http://www.unhcr.org/basics/BASICS/3c0f495f4.pdf

Ujcic-Voortman, Joanne, et al. Diabetes prevalence and risk factors among ethnic minorities..European Journal of Public Health. 2009 [cited October 2009];19(5):511-515

vanOort FV, van der Ende J, Crijnen AA, Verhulst FC, Mackenbach JP, Joung IM. Determinants of daily smoking in Turkish young adults in the Netherlands. BMC Public Health. 2006;6294.

Wahl AM, Eitle TM. Gender, acculturation and alcohol use among Latina/o adolescents: a multi-ethnic comparison. J Immigr Minor Health. 2010;12(2):153-65

Wallace EV. The Epidemic of Obesity in African American Communities and the Need for a Culturally Sensitive after school Childhood Obesity Prevention Program. Californian Journal of Health Promotion 2006; 4(1) 129-133

Walseth K, Fasting K. Islam's view on physical activity and sport: Egyptian women interpreting Islam. Int Rev Socio Sport; 2003; 38 (1): 45-60

Wewers ME, Dhatt RK, Moeschberger ML, Guthrie R M, Kuun P, Chen MS. Misclassification of smoking status among Southeast Asian adult immigrants. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 1995; 152, 1917–1921.

Wolin KY, Colditz G, Stoddard AM, Emmons KM, Sorensen G. Acculturation and physical activity in a working class multiethnic population. Prev Med 2006 Apr; 42 (4): 266-72

Zemore SE. Re-examining whether and why acculturation relates to drinking outcomes in a rigorous, national survey of Latinos.. Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research. 2005; 29(12):2144-53.

Zhang J, Wang Z. Factors associated with smoking in Asian American adults: a systematic review. Nicotine & Tobacco Research. 2008; 10(5); 791–80

## APPENDIX



Figure 1 Prevalence (%) of daily smoking among migrants by years of education.

Figure 2 Prevalence (%) of alcohol use in the last 12months among migrants by years of education





Figure 3Prevalence (%) of insufficient regular physical activity among migrants by educational background

Figure 4 Prevalence (%) of obesity among migrant groups by educational background





Figure 5 Prevalence (%) of daily smoking among migrants by main activity

Figure 6 prevalence (%) of use of alcohol in the last 12months among migrants by main activity





Figure 7 Prevalence (%) of insufficient physical activity among migrants by main activity

Figure 8 prevalence (%) of obesity among migrants by main activity

